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SUMMARY

This is Volume Six in a series of eight reports, which describe the formation of the
national collection of ancient monuments and historic buildings from 1882 to 1983 in the
context of legislation and other available means of protecting heritage.

The report describes the growth of the collection from the end of the Second World
War, and the consequent resumption of ancient monuments activity in the Ministry of
Works, to the passing of the Historic Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act which
marked a significant increase in the government's power to protect the nation'’s heritage.
In the aftermath of the Second World War, and with the social and economic fabric of
Britain being remade by a Scaalist government, the collection of ancient monuments and
historic buildings in the care of the Ministry of Works expanded rapidly. High levels of
taxation and shoertages of materials and skilled labour made it difficult for owners of all
kinds to maintain their ancient monuments adequately and the only body able to save
them was central government. Nevertheless, there were still deficiencies in the
sovernment's capacity for protecting heritage, in particular with regard to inhabited
houses, and much of the work of the Ministry's Ancient Mcnuments Department was

conducted in the shadow of anticipated new legislation, which arrived after much delay in
1953.
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INTRODUCTION

This is the sixth in a series of eight reports which describe the formation of the national
collection of ancient monuments and historic buildings from 1882 to 1983 in the context
of legislation and the other available means of protecting heritage. The series was
commissicned to inform commemoration of the centenary of the 1913 Ancient
Monuments Act. This volume covers the history of the National Heritage Collection frem
the end of the Second World War and the consequent resumption of ancient
monuments activity in the Ministry of Works, to the passing of the Histeric Buildings and
Ancient Monuments Act which marked a significant increase in the government's power
to protect the nation's heritage.

In the aftermath of the Secend World War, and with the social and eccnomic fabric of
Britain being remade by a Sccialist government, the national cellection of ancient
monuments and historic buildings in the care of the Ministry of Works expanded rapidly.
In England alcne monuments were being added to the collection at a rate of nearly cne a
month. High levels of taxation and shortages of materials and skilled labour made it
difficult for owners of all kinds to maintain their ancient menuments adequately and the
only body able to save them was central government. Nevertheless, there were still
deficiencies in the government's capacity for protecting heritage, in particular with regard
to inhabited houses, and much of the work of the Ministry's Ancient Monuments
Department was conducted in the shadow of anticipated new legislation, which arrived
after much delay in 1953.

THE NATIONALISATION OF HERITAGE

The Labour government of 1945-51 pursued a policy of nationalisation which brought the
Bank of England, Cable and Wireless, civil aviation, railways and road haulage, health
services, coal mines and gas and electricity provision into state cwnership. No such far-
reaching policy can be said tc have applied in the field of ancient menuments and historic
buildings, but the social, economic and political conditions of the time nevertheless
combined tc create a situation in which central government would increasingly take
control of England's heritage away from private owners, local authorities and voluntary
groups. In England, 90 monuments were taken over between the end cf the war and the
end of 1953, increasing the total size of the ccllection by more than 50 per cent. Another
Il monuments in England were accepted for guardianship during this period, although the
legal formalities were not concluded until after 1953,

The model of naticnalisation which the Labour government favoured was one in which
publicly appointed managers ran monopoly industries in the public interest, but largely
free of political interference. It was based on the ‘public-minded expert’ whe could be
expected tc manage things in a professional and objective way.' The protection of the
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nation's ancient monuments was in the hands of just such a body of experts: the
Inspectorate of Ancient Monuments in the Ministry of Works, based at the Ministry's
imposing London headquarters, Lambeth Bridge House (fig 1).

Fig I: Lambeth Bridee House London, 1947 The Inspectors Anaent Monuments Architects and
ancrent monuments administration had therr offices on the 3rd foor, while Ministers, the
Fermanenit Secretary and other senjor officials were all on the 4th floor. Reproduced by
penmission of Friglish Heritage

In 1947 the Inspectorate for the whole of Great Britain numbered just

| 4 men (of whom three dealt with Scotland and were based in Edinburgh)?, but it grew
slowly in response to the increasing workload of the department. By 1950 the total
number cf Inspectors had grown to |16 and by January 1954 the complement was 22 for
the whole country (including the head of the Ancient Monuments Laboratory, Leo Biek).?
This small group of experts made recommendaticns on which monuments needed to be
scheduled and which should be taken into guardianship; they scrutinised plans for
developments which affected historic sites; they were responsible for conducting
excavations at monuments in the Ministry's charge and rescue excavations on threatened
sites; they also advised on what preservation work should

be carried out at Ministry-run monuments and wrote the guidebooks

for them.

@ ENGLISH HERITAGE 4 36-2014



The post of Chief Inspector of Ancient Monuments was occupied from October 1945 by
Bryan OG'Neil {1905-1954) (fig 2). Described as ‘a forceful character and a tireless
worker', O'Neil brought to the post a wide-ranging enthusiasm for preservation of
Britain's heritage and a strong belief in the standards and traditions of the Office/Ministry
of Works.* After studying Classics at Oxford he joined the Office of Works in 1930, at a
time when Sir Charles Peers still dominated the Ancent Menuments Branch. He
remained with the Ministry of Works during the War, overseeing emergency excavations,
salvage work and the creation of embryenic lists of protected historic buildings. In the
autumn of 1945, with the war over, O'Neil succeeded |oscelyn Bushe-Fox as Chief
inspector. It has been said that while he was in charge, the Ministry became ‘an
increasingly dynamic influence in British archaeology.”

Alongside the Inspectorate was the Architects’ Division, five of whom were engaged in
ancient monuments work and another two dealt with Royal Palaces and other historic
buildings in London. The architects were respensible for reccmmending and carrying out
repair and preservaticn work at monuments and buildings in the Ministry's charge. This
included the upkeep and repair of historic crown buildings such as the Tower of Londen
and Edinburgh Castle. They also provided advisory services to other owners of
monuments. Under the direction of the architects was a labour force of skilled specialist
workmen — mostly masens — who carried out works on site,

The workforce, which had first been fermed in 1912, was reduced during the Seccond

Word War (falling from 275 in 1939 to 57 in 1945)° but built up again afterwards. In
1952 it numbered about 450 men in England and Wales.”
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fig 2: Bryan OQ'Nel {centre) with fiends at fnglish [sland Cam, 5t Martins, fsies of Satye in the fate
1940s. Reproduced by permission of English Heritage

In 1946 Harold Corti Emmerson (18%6-1984) was appointed as the new Permanent
Secretary of the Ministry, having spent almost all his career at the Ministry of Labour. He
found a department which had a depth of experience, but dislked change. As he later
recalled,

‘The staff of the cld Office of Works, which was the foundation of the Ministry,
had been sorewhat battered by a succession of Ministers of powerful personality,
Lord Reith, Lord Portal and Duncan Sandys, during the years 1940 to 1945, Of
less importance but also unsettling, | was the fourth Permanent Secretary to
appear on the scene in the same period. It was natural that those with years of
experience in the old Office of Works should have developed a resistance to
change.”
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Nevertheless, ‘there was a vast store of knowledge and experience’ and as a result, ‘there
were few occasions when Ministenial decisions on policy were needed — or indeed
decisions by the Permanent Secretary.” The head of ancient monuments administration, F
| E Raby (1888-1966), had joined the old Office of Works in 911 and many of the
inspectors and architects had been in post for a long time, military service
notwithstanding. Immediately below Emmerson in the departmental structure was the
Deputy Secretary with respensibility for ancient monuments and historic buildings, Sir Eric
de Normann {fig 3), who had spent nearly his whole career in the Office of Works and
‘was steeped in the spint and traditicn of a historic department’. '° His experience and the
willingness of Ministers and the Permanent Secretary to delegate made de Normann a
highly influential figure in the building of the national collection in the 1940s. As
Emmerson later recalled, ‘| knew | could rely on him to carry on with the ordinary run of
administration of the agency services while | found my bearings.""'

Eric Norman de Normann (1893-1982) joined the Office of Works in 1920, after military
service in the First World War which saw him menticned twice in dispatches. He
remained in the department for the rest of his career (save for a brief stint at the Imperial
Defence College). From 1943 to 1954 he held the post of Deputy Secretary. It was said
of him that there was 'nothing bureaucratic in his make-up and he was always accessible
te new ideas or suggestions, either from colleagues or members of the public’."” Like
many senior figures in the Ministry of Works, before and since, he was a member of the
Athenaeum Club. There he was 'the founder of a loosely composed gathering of "The
Sofa”, where after luncheon good talk and good fellowship made a pleasant break in the
day's work and where de Normann's genial and astringent humour was seen at its best."”
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Fig 3: Sir Errc de Normann i 1996 © National Fortrait Gallery London

During Sir Harold Emmerson's ten years as Permanent Secretary (1946-56) there were
eight Ministers of Works, none of whom had any previous experience of the department,
They were all reportedly fascinated by those aspects of the work which concerned the
old Office of Works — the Royal Palaces, the Royal Parks, ancient monuments, embassies
abroad, and so on' " but with the exception of the discussions around the 1953 Historic
Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act there were no great matters of policy which
needed Ministerial involvement. Instead the experienced and tight-knit group of ex-Office
of Warks staff picked up where they had left off in 1939,

Within the Ministry of Works both the Inspectorate and the civil servants were ambitious
to increase the work of the Ancient Monuments Department after the war, The new
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Permanent Secretary expressed a wish to make up the backlog of work to monuments in
care which had built up dunng the war and he believed also that there were ‘many other
menuments which we should take over in the public interest.”” The Chief Inspector
wrote in 1948 that *...I have bent all my energy to re-establishing this work upen its pre-
war basis...and also to extending it or at least to laying plans for its extension. [t s indeed
capable of considerable extension not only in quantity, but also in range."® These
ambitions were reflected in the budget for Ancient Monuments work which more than
doubled duning this peried (see Table 1).

The vast influx of monuments into Ministry care, which reached its peak in 1950, was not
caused simply by wartime cenditions and their aftermath of austerity. Just as the welfare
state was a response to pre-war social conditions, the increased activity in the Ancient
Monuments Department was the delayed solution to lengstanding problems. Twelve of
the properties which were taken into care in this pericd had been offered initially to the
Office of Works before 1939, but either the offers had been declined (usually on grounds
of financial constraints) or the negotiations over their transfer had been halted by the war.
'n additicn four properties which came to the Ministry of Works after 1945 had been
offered to the National Trust for preservation before the war, namely Kirkham House,
Burten Agnes Manor, Kingswood Abbey Gatehouse and Sir Bevil Grenville's Monument.

The Office of Works had accepted guardianship of Eynsford Castle in Kent from the
Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings (SPAB) as far back as 1935, but
negotiaticns over boundaries and access proved difficult to resclve and were suspended
in 1941, for the duraticn of the war. Kirkham House in Paignton had been saved from
demolition by Mrs Ada Jennings in 1937 and left to the Office of Works on her death in
1944, the property finally coming into the Minister's care in 1948. At Conisbrough Castle
and Shap Abbey, both of which had been in poor condition befcre the war, the Office of
Works had encouraged an offer of guardianship, but without success. In the special case
of Apsley House, successive Dukes of Wellington had lcoked at the possibility of
disposing of it since 1934. The 7th Duke later stated that he had nurtured the idea of
giving the house and its contents to the nation as 2 museum for some twenty years by the
time it opened to the public in 1952 (see below).”

Apsley House was one of a number of cases where there had been a demonstrable need
before 1945 for action to secure the preservation of the monument, even if no offer of
guardianship had been made. Visiting the house in March 1935, the Earl of Crawford was
struck by its poer condition and recerded his impressions in typically cutting manner in his
journal:

‘What a queer place Apsley House is — surely one of the very dingiest of the
_ondon palaces. There is no sign of its ever having been occupied by an intelligent
owner. The Duke — [ mean the first and great Duke — acquired a certain number
of fine pictures by chance or by pillage — stuck them up amidst a welter of trash —
fumished his palace with third rate furniture — then died, and from that date to
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this nene of his successors has ever thought of reforming the chaos, or even giving
the place a lick of paint. The squalor and ignominy of Apsley House is beyond
belief and | should imagine that the new Duke and his Duchess are perfectly
incompetent to get the place inte order; to de them justice, | think they feel
neither shame, nor discomfort in their surroundings.”®

The long campaign to take over Hadrian's Wall involved 14 sections being brought into
the national collection between 1945 and 1953, but it had begun in the 1930s (see
Volume Five) and guardianship or gift of || sections was accepted between 1933 and the
end of the war.

Rushton Trangular Lodge was reported in June 1939 to have a tree growing cut of the
roof, elder bushes in the foundations, broken windows and a thick undergrowth of nettles
around it. Emergency repairs were carned out in 1945, but guardianship would not be
achieved until 1950, Joscelyn Bushe-Fox (Chief Inspector of Ancient Monuments 1933-
45) visited Mount Grace Priory in the early days of the war in 1939 and found the
remains of the Carthusian monastery in ‘a most deplorable state of neglect.” In wartime
circumstances Dr Raby (head of Ancient Meonuments administration) could only respend
by saying that 'if happier days come, we must try to cbtain guardianship. The happy day
finally came in 1952 when the Treasury decided that it would accept the property in lieu
of estate duties and transfer it to the National Trust, on condition that the Pricry remains
were placed in guardianship.”” In 1926 the owners of the Cow Tower in Norwich had
received advice on repair after cracks had appeared in its walls. Ministry foremen had
supervised work at Bury St Edmunds Abbey in 1928 and at Hailes Abbey in 1938.

Private Owners

Although the social developments which made it difficult for private owners to maintain
monuments belonging to them dated back at least to the 1914-18 war, the Second
World War intensified the effects and extinguished the capacity of many more private
owners, businesses and charities to maintain ancient monuments. High levels of taxation
made it difficult for landewners te afferd non-essential work, such as the repair of ancient
monuments, or forced them to sell-up. The Earl of Jersey was typical of traditicnal
landewners in his reasons for giving up Osterley Park, which was not his main home,

‘In view of the current trend of taxation etc | do not think there is any likelihood
of my being able again to occupy Osterley myself. Maintenance even when the
Mansion is shut up, is quite a big item, and for this expenditure | get no benefit.
Supervision takes a certain amount of my time etc. which | could more usefully
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employ. | see no point therefore in keeping the place on a care and maintenance
basis. *

Cecil Binney, the owner of the medieval Duxford Chapel, was delighted in 1948 to leam
{(via an intermediary, the Curator of the Ipswich Museums) that the Ministry of Works was
keen to take over the building, which his father had bought zlong with the adjacent public
house. He had retained the chapel when he sold the pub, in order to try to secure its
preservation and had turned down offers from various pecple who wanted to convert
the building to, among other things, a dance hall or a bungalow. Binney admitted that the
thatched roof had been ‘getting in bad repair’ before the war. The cost of repairs, always
great, had since 1939 become unsupportable.

The Inspectors were well aware of the predicament of private owners and were not
above using it deliberately to their advantage. In 1947 it was agreed that the Inspector of
Ancient Monuments for England, P K Baillie Reynolds should write a sympathetic letter to
the owner of Sawley (or Salley) Abbey in West Yorkshire, in an attempt to elicit an offer
of guardianship. He wrote to Mr Fattorini that,

it seemed tc me possible that with high taxation and enormously increased costs
of labour and matenals you might not find it practicable to carry on the work
however much you might wish to do so. If that were likely to be the case, would
you perhaps consider handing the Abbey over to this Department?”’

In the same year, Baillie Reynclds suggested, in connection with Castle Rising Castle that,
when the Department was in a pesition to be able to carry cut the necessary repairs, ‘a
detailed report of werk required may be useful to frighten the owners into handing over
to us.'” There is a hint of this approach too, in the case of Housesteads Fort, which the
National Trust was hesitating to offer in guardianship. Although it is not acknowledged
elsewhere as a strategy, there were certainly other cases where the offer of guardianship
was made in response to a report on necessary repairs from cne of the Ministry's
architects. Owners as vanious as a borcugh council {owners of Abingdon County Hall},
Winchester College (St Catherine's Cratory) and the National Trust (Hailes Abbey)
respended in this way.

Some monuments had been acquired for preservation many years earlier by local charities
or sccieties, which by the 1940s were nc longer able to care for them. The Old
Merchant's House in Great Yarmcuth had been purchased by the Great Yarmouth
Histeric Buildings Ltd in 1908 who opened it to the public. In 1947, when the Ministry
was being offered the Old Merchant's House and the nearby Greyfriars Cloister, the
company was apparently monbund — all but four of the criginal sharehclders having died -
and in the view of the Chief Inspecter, Bryan O'Neil, the time had come "...for the
Company to seek an honoured grave’ and allow the Ministry to take over. A similar
situation existed in Gloucestershire where the Kingswood Abbey Gatehouse had been
vested in a local trust in 1900, but by the late 1930s all the criginal trustees had died and
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not been replaced. The Rector of Kingswood was left to try to find a way of presenving
the monument and after being rejected by the National Trust (because there was no
endowment) it was given to the Ministry of Works in [950.

At Ospringe in Kent a medieval hospital known as the Maison Dieu (fig 4) had been
bought by public subscnption in 1922 to house a collection of local finds of Roman
pottery. Twenty years of neglect followed, which left the building in danger of becoming
no more than ‘a heap of ruins and broken pottery’. The vicar and churchwardens were
acting as trustees, but were not up to the task of repairing and maintaining the
monument, so they offered guardianship to the Ministry. At Wroxeter Roman City the
Shropshire Archaeological Society had managed the site (owned by | ord Barnard) for
over 80 years, but in the | 940s its income had shrunk so much that they were forced to
neglect the maintenance of the site. By 1946 they believed the only hope of safeguarding
it was for the Ministry of Works to take over.

Fio 4 The Marson Diew, Ospringe Kent in 1996, The photograph was taken on a site visit by P K
Baillie Reynolds and F | £ Raby which led to the building being accepted for guardianship,
Reproduced by permission of Fnglish Hertage
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The National Trust as Donor

The motivation cf the National Trust in offering sites to the Ministry of Works was a
combination of a freely acknowledged lack of expertise in the care of ancient monuments
and a shortage of funds. n offering Bramber Castle in 1945, James Lees-Milne (Secretary
of the Trust's Historic Buildings Committee) admitted that it was ‘the scrt of property
which is always a slight embarrassment to the Trust'” They had bought it in 1945 with
part of a legacy left to the Trust, not sc much for its archaeological interest as its amenity
value and its wide views cver the Sussex countryside. Lees-Milne admitted to Dr Raby
that ancient monuments were ‘the one kind of property in the management of which the
Trust has not had very signal success, and...we should at least ask for your expert advice
and opinion.” Baillie Reynclds agreed that,

"...as a general principle monuments such as castles and abbeys should NOT be in
the custody of the Naticnal Trust but in that of the Ancient Monuments Division
of the Ministry of Works, one of whese primary functions under the AM. Acts is
precisely the care of such monuments. And | therefore feel that when the
National Trust offers

us the guardianship of a well-known castle we should be failling in cur duty if we

refused it, even if it were not in itself a very attractive propositicn.’

The abrasive Baillie Reynolds was equally keen, three years later, to accept guardianship of
Wall Roman site from the Trust: ‘On prepaganda grounds, it would be quite a goed thing
that the National Trust, having had this site in its possession for 20 years, should in the
end have to hand it over to us because it cannot maintain it.” Wall, or Letocetum as it
was also known, had suffered as much as anywhere from the neglect of the war years.
Lees-Milne visited in April 1947 and wrote in his diary: ‘Called at Letocetum which is a
lamentable, tumbledown property. The sheds over the Roman remains have collapsed:
the exhibits consist of dusty, broken bits of Reman pottery. The whole place unkempt
and uncared for. | would like to blow it up.”’

Not everything offered by the Trust was gratefully accepted. Baillie Reynolds did not think
the ‘scanty fragments’ of Ribchester Roman Fort in Lancashire worth taking over,
especially as the museum was not offered along with the standing remains. **

Ribchester, Wall Roman site and Hailes Abbey were all sites that had been in Trust
ownership for several years and had deteriorated during that time. Bramber Castle, Old
Soar Manor and Mount Grace Priory on the other hand were menuments that were
acquired by the Trust in this period and immediately offered te the Ministry, in
recognition of their greater expertise and capacity for locking after ancient monuments.
(Bramber would not come into the national collection until 1975, see Volume Eight.)

Two other National Trust properties, Osterley Park and Ham House, came into the care
of the Ministry of Works in the |940s through sheer necessity. Despite the Trust's
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increasing importance and growing collection of properties it had very little money, so
was not in a position to make any substantial purchases, or to maintain a house and
grounds without an endowment or other form of income. Ham House, Surrey, was
offered as a gift to the Trust in 1945, but the Tollemache family which owned it was
unable to offer an endowment; nor was it in a position te give away the valuable contents
of the house, which added greatly to its historical significance. It was clear that the house
along with its gardens and contents merited preservation, so the Trust approached the
government for financial assistance to make it possible for them to take over the
property.

A scheme was devised (seemingly by Edward Hale of the Treasury) * for the freehold to
be vested in the National Trust, which would in tum give a lease to the Ministry of Works
to maintain the house, on the understanding it was to be used as a museum; the Victoria
and Albert Museum (V&A) would purchase the contents and administer the museum.
The V&A (which was effectively an extension of the government, funded by the Ministry
of Education) became invelved initially to value the contents, but the museum'’s director
Sir Leigh Ashton was so impressed by the seventeenth-century furniture in the house that
he felt it should be in the national collection (that is, vested in the V&A). Ashton went
further, suggesting Ham would be suitable as ‘scmething which we have long desired to
have, namely, a country house in close proximity to London which we can utilise for all

our fumiture of a less important nature, which | have always felt was an ideal scheme.”™

Forthe Trust to take con a house as a museum was unusual, although not unique. The
main aim of the Trust's Country Houses Scheme was tc previde a means by which the
traditional cwners could continue to reside in their houses, an aim supported by the
Ministry of Works as a method of preservaticn. In the case of Ham (and also Csterley)
the owners no longer wished to remain in residence. Indeed in the view of |ames Lees-
Milne Ham was, ‘Quite impossible as a private residence these days, and not suited to any
institutional use. The first floor is all state-rcoms; the second all intercommunicating
rooms. The attic floor not fit for animals, far less for modern servants, where obtainable.”'

In these circumstances, museum use was the best solution since it prevented the house
becoming a ‘white elephant’ and kept house and contents together. Nevertheless it tocok
another two years of difficult negotiations for the detailed scheme to be agreed. On 9
March 1948, Lees Milne wrote in his diary: "An awful meeting at the Ministry of Works on
the subject of Ham House. The Admiral [Bevir, Secretary of the National Trust] presiding
over a baker's dozen...cf dreary subfusc civil servants and attormeys. How | hate their
guts. Little achieved owing to huffing, puffing, um-ing and er-ing,”*

For its part, the Ministry of Works resented the Trust's insistence on controlling what it
did to the house and gardens, since its staff had, after all, many years of experience in
looking after historic buildings such as Hampton Court and Holyrood House. In view of
the extent of government respensibility for the scheme, the involvement of the National
Trust was questionable, but as Sir Eric de Normann explained *...the reason for the
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presence of the National Trust in the transaction is, | gather, simply to make it acceptable
te the present owner...”™ (In the contrasting case of Audley Fnd the Trust was squeezed
out altogether). Nevertheless the Ministry felt it was getting the worst of the deal. In F |
Root's words: ‘the position is that the Naticnal Trust are taking over a house which is a
liability and we are taking all the liabilities.™

Fventually a deal was made and the V&A tock over the running of the house on | June
1948. The Ministry of Works' 99-year lease commenced on 24 June. Problematic though
it was, Ham became a template for the treatment of Osterley Park, another house
offered to the Trust which had no future as a residence.

The idea of transferring Osterley Park to the Naticnal Trust had first been raised in 1938,
but nothing had been done about it and during the war the house was taken over by
Glyn, Mills Bank while the park was used as a Home Guard training ground. In 1944 the
owner, the Earl of Jersey, revived the idea and an arrangement was devised whereby the
National Trust would be given the house and 300 acres of land, the contents of the state
rooms woeuld be lcaned to it for 500 years, and the land beyond the gardens of the house
would be let by the Trust to the lecal councils for recreational use. The councils alse
undertook to meet any annual deficit incurred by the Trust, up to a maximum of £11,000,
an arrangement preferred by the Trust to the altemative idea of selling outlying parts of
the estate to fund an endowment. A management committee would be set up including
representatives of the councils, the National Trust, the Georgian Group and the RIBA.
While the lawyers were working up the details of the gift, a new administraticn at
Middlesex County Ceouncil declared its wish to renegotiate the membership of the
managing committee. This provoked Lord Jersey's ire and, after initially propesing te sell
everything cn the open market, he made a new and less generous offer to the Trust. The
house and grounds would be given to the Trust, but only if the councils purchased the
rest of the land and the Trust the contents {minus the pictures which were removed and
taken to Jersey).

With the preservaticn of Osterley in jeopardy the government was again asked to step in
and assist the National Trust. [t had already given some censideration to the importance
of Osterley in 1947 because the Earl of Jersey owed several thousand pounds in estate
duty and the Chancellor Hugh Dalton had agreed that he should be invited to give part of
the estate to the nation in lieu of tax. Lord Crawford, the Chairman of the National Trust
visited Dalton’s successor as Chancellor, Sir Stafford Cripps, on 13 May 1948 to ask him
to buy the contents on behalf of the Trust. This request came at a time when the
arrangements for Ham House were cn the point of being completed, so the Treasury
naturally used that as a template for dealing with Osterley.

The Trust's inability to buy the contents of the house, or to maintain the house and
gardens, made Osterley a close parallel to Ham. The V&A was again delighted to improve
its collections by buying the Adam furniture for which Osterley was famous. The Ministry
of Works was less pleased, having made its dislike of this sort of arrangement clear, but
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recognised that it must again accept the Trust's involvement. With all the arrangements in
place the National Trust accepted the gift of the mansion house and grounds and on 24
November [ 949 leased them to the Ministry of Works on a full repairing lease of 99
years. On the same day, the land accepted by the government in lieu of taxaticn was
transferred to the National Trust via the National Land Fund. The house was re-opened
to the publicin 1953 under the auspices of the V&A.

Local Authorities

Local authorities shared with central government the guardianship powers in the Ancient
Monument Acts, so the Ministry of Works was generally reluctant to accept properties
from them (see Volume Five for earier evidence of this attitude). Yet at the same time it
also had a low opinicn cf the ability of most local authorities to care for monuments and
occasionally they needed to take action te preserve a local authority-owned monument.
When the Ministry heard that the Earl of Yarberough propesed te sell Conisbrough
Castle to the local council, O'Neil's response was that it weuld be ‘a calamity’. The local
authority would be ‘unable tc do justice to this which is cne of the finest castles in
England. We should have it The counail readily agreed to the suggestion of guardianship
and effectively had been nothing more than a conduit for the transfer from a private
ocwner to the State.

Abingdeon County Hall, which despite its name was owned by the Borcugh of Abingdon,
was not a typical ancient monument, since it was a roofed building and had a beneficial
use as a museum. Although the County Hall was 'generally considered to be cone of the
finest buildings of its kind in the country' and was in a state of decay, it was nct the
intention of the Ancient Monuments Acts that the Ministry of Works should provide free
accommedaticn in guardianship monuments for lccal authority services. Yet the Ministry
was clearly the body best-qualified to repair and preserve it. The soluticn was provided by
5.9 of the 1913 Ancient Monuments Act which allowed the Ministry tc accept ‘voluntary
contributicns towards the cost of maintenance and preservation of any monument of
which they may beccme the owners or guardians'. Thus a voluntary rent could be paid by
the Borough for the use of the building and it could be repaired by the Ministry's experts,
without stepping outside the limitations of the Ancient Monuments Acts.

Temple Manor in Streed, Kent was acquired by the City of Rochester in the early 1930s
by accident, because it happened to be on land wanted for industrial development. They
failed to find any use for the medieval manor house before the war and a combination of
bomb damage and vandalism had reduced it to near-ruination by 1949 (see fig 5). The
Ministry had been involved in attempts to find a use for the building in 1934 and had
witnessed its decline over the following |5 years. “This is another example of the
inadequacy of a local authority’ wrote O'Neill, shortly before an offer of guardianship
arrived. The council was not prepared to spend any meney on preservation of the
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monument, even with grant aid, and with the threat of a Preservation Order hanging over
it guardianship was the easy way out.

Fig 5 Temple Manor, Strood, Kent in 1949 Reproduced by permission of English Herftage

Other Landowners

The other major sources of ancient monuments for the national collection were the
Crown and the State in its various forms. The War Office, the Crown Lands Commission,
the Duchies of Cornwall and Lancaster and the Church of England were owners of large
numbers of historic bulldings and thousands of acres of land, on which stood many
ancient monuments. The War Office had a longstanding arrangement with the Ministry of
Works for the maintenance of the parts of its estate which were of historic interest (see
Yolume Two). In this period, when despite the end of the War Britain was still highly
militarised, only Tilbury Fort and Pevensey Castle were transferred. (In the case of
Pevensey Castle, the monument was being returned to the national collection having
been occupied temporanly by the military during the war). When the Commissicners for
Crown Lands were negotiating for the purchase of the Dunster Castle Estate they offered
to place four of its ancient monuments, including Cleeve Abbey and the Dunster Yam
Market in the care of the Ministry of Works. (Two further monuments were on parts of
the estate leased to the Forestry Commission and the Ministry was not able to take them
over.) The Ministry regarded all the monuments on offer to be of sufficient importance to
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be preserved and indeed they had been keen for many vears to have control of Cleeve
Abbey on the grounds that it was practically the only historic monastic building in the
country which was still reofed.

The Duchies of Cornwall and Lancaster had extensive landhceldings and a large collection
of castles. Unlike the War Office they did not have a rght to transfer monuments to the
Ministry of Works, but there seems te have been some sense of obligation on the part of
the Ministry to accept what was offered and several menuments had been taken over
since the 1920s. Discussing Tutbury Castle with the Duchy of Lancaster in 1951, Baillie
Reynolds said that they would feel it a duty to accept guardianship if offered.” Although
Bolingbroke Castle and Chichele College had both been taken over from the Duchy of
Lancaster in 1949, the view of Frederick Root (Under Secretary responsible for ancient
monuments work in the Ministry} on Tutbury in 1952 was that the Duchy should be
encouraged to take responsibility for its own monuments: ‘the Ministry will be heavily
overloaded if all public bodies seek to hand over their menuments to it." In the end
negotiations simply tailed off without reaching any conclusion. Guardianship of a group of
seven monuments on the Isles of Scilly was given by the Duchy of Cornwall in 1950, at
the request of the Ministry — a rare example of a targeted approach to collecting,
Launceston Castle, on the other hand, was a more traditicnal case of the cwner being
unable to afford repairs. It was accepted on the basis of its archaeclogical importance and
came into guardianship in 1951,

The first monument taken into guardianship after the end of the war was a piece of
church preperty, a section of Hadrian's Wall in the vicarage garden at Gilsland in Cumbria.
In dealing with that case it was established that an incumbent was capable of granting
guardianship of church land. Ancther menument in a vicarage garden was North Elmham
Chapel in Norfolk, which came into guardianship in [948, at the suggesticn of the Bishop
of Nerwich. Much of the Church's property, including all Episcopal property, was held not
by parishes but by the Church Commissioners. Its predecessor body, the Ecclesiastical
Commissioners, had been prepared before the war to spend money on the repair of
ancient monuments such as the remains of Wolvesey Palace in Winchester or the Lincoln
Cld Bishops Palace, but after the war the Church Commissicners showed a marked
reluctance to do sc. As a result Wolvesey Palace, Lincoln Cld Bishops Palace and
Auckland Deer House (in the park of the Bishop of Durham'’s palace) were all offered to
the Ministry during this period.
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Monuments for the Nation

The nationalisation of ancient monuments opened up some hidden or inaccessible parts
of England's heritage to the public, but many of the monuments offered to the Ministry at
this time were already open to the public, or at least had been up until 1939, Sites owned
by the National Trust — Wall Reman site, Hailes Abbey, Housesteads Fort — had naturally
been open before, but there were many others in private ownership to which the public
had long been admitted. This might be informal, in the manner of Horne's Place Chapel
where the occasional visitor would be allowed to see inside on request (see below) or
Creake Abbey which Admiral and Mrs Thursfield were happy to show to visitors after
they had acquired it in 1947

Larger menuments such as Castle Rising Castle in Nerfolk were already well-established
attracticns with guide bocks and postcards cn sale. Boscobel House, with its histcrical
connections to Charles [l and the Civil War, had attracted visitors for hundreds of years
and the Victorian appetite for remantic histery, along with the new Midlands railway,
boosted their numbers in the later | 9th century. The Reman remains at Wroxeter had
been a visitor attraction since 1859 when much of the site was exposed for the first time.
More recently, the Carl of Jersey had cpened up Osterley Park tc the public in 1939 and
that summer 19,000 pecple were admitted to the house and 27,000 tc the greunds. As
well as the historic state rocoms, visitors could also enjoy exhibitions of contemporary art
in scme upstairs rcoms.

At Aldborough Roman Station in Yorkshire Lady Lawson-Tancred not only allowed
visitors to see the /7 sitv remains, but also had a small museum to display finds from the
site, for which 3d entry was charged. At the time that Cleeve Abbey was offered to the
Ministry, it was generating about £300 a year in admission fees. Charging an entry fee,
rarely more than a few pence, had allowed private owners for many years to cover the
costs of maintaining monuments, but in post-war conditions that income was not always
sufficient.

The negative consequence of the public having access to a monument was zll too often
vandalism and it was their inzbility to prevent this as well as their inability to carry out
repairs which motivated scme owners to offer sites te the Ministry. Herbert Ford, the
owner of Lilleshall Abbey, did not feel up to the task of re-opening the monument to the
public after the war and had fenced it off with barbed wire. Even so, trespassers had
gained access, vandalising the ruins and lighting fires. In the 1930s Sawley Abbey had been
repaired by the owner, 2 wealthy Bradford businessman, but after the workmen left the
site early in the War, it was over-run by vandals and the condition of the monument
declined again.

Most private cwners who gave their monuments to the Ministry appear to have been

genuinely desirous of preserving them and offered them so that they could receive the
rght treatment, not simply to relieve themselves of a liability. In some cases this was
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straightforward pride in their own property, which may have been a family possession for
centunies, but there were also owners who had sericus antiquarian or archaeological
interests. Lord llchester, who gave the Ministry guardianship of Abbotsbury Abbey in
Dorset in 1948 (and befcre the war had given nearby St Catherine's Chapel) was a
historian, Trustee of the British Museum and Chairman of the Royal Commission on the
Historical Monuments of England. Lord Harlech, the donor of Old Oswestry Hillfort in
1945 had been First Commissioner of Works from 1931 te 1936 and was later Chairman
of the Ancient Monuments Board for England. The remains of Creake Abbey in Norfolk
were bought by Admiral H G Thursfield FSA, a friend of Sir Charles Peers, in order to
preserve them. When he realised the extent of the work needed to the remains, having
already deone a little uncfficial excavation of his own, he scught to give guardianship to the
Minister. Ancther amateur archaeologist was Richard Du Cane, who in 1950 offered to
leave Carrawburgh Roman Fort on Hadrian's Wall to the Ministry in his Will. A large part
of his motivation for acquiring the site appears to have been the desire to undertake his
own excavations, despite having no suitable qualifications for the task. (He did, however,
claim that his dog, Adam, had uncovered the centre altar at the Carrawburgh Mithraeum
in 1950.) In that case the Ministry was able to persuade him not to do any digging, but
the proposed transfer of the menument was never ccmpleted.

Even where the owner was not part of the small world of archaeclogists and antiquarians,
they might still recognise the importance of their possessions to the nation. When a rare
set of wallpaintings was discovered in Longthorpe Tower, the cwner, Captain Fitzwilliam,
paid for uncovering, recording and conserving them, but did not feel able to undertake
the structural work which was needed to protect the tower as 2 whole and made a gift of
the monument to the Ministry in 1947, Bermey Arms Windmill, Nerfolk was owned by
the Lower Bure, Halvergate Fleet and Acle Marshes Internal Drainage Board, which was
run by local farmers to provide land drainage in a low-lying coastal area. When the Board
planned to replace it with a modern pumping plant, there was no use for what they
considered ‘the finest example of a drainage windmill in the district’ and after first
appreaching the Council for the Preservation of Rural England and then the Society for
the Protection of Ancient Buildings they offered the mill to the Ministry of Works as a gift.
Fven though he could not afferd the whole cost of restoration, Mr Briggs, the owner of
Steeton Hall Gateway, donated £50 towards the monument's repair at the same time as
giving guardianship. The Duke of Somerset offered Totnes Castle so that the ‘general
public may derive the full benefit of access'.

The offer of Apsley House tc the nation by Gerald Wellesley, the 7th Duke of
Wellingten divided opinion. Some, such as the Prime Minister, Winston Churchill,
considered it very generous. Others, mindful of the fact that Parliament had provided the
maoney to buy the house in gratitude for the | st Duke's defeat of Napoleon, thought that
his successor was merely retuming a gift for which he had no lenger had any use. The
house was certainly a liability, being barely habitable by the latter stages of the war. The
duke therefore offered the house along with a selection of the pictures and other
contents asscciated with the st Duke to the government, in return for continued
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occupation by the family of the upper part of the house. The matter was considered by
the Cabinet on 12 June 1944 It was generzlly agreed that the offer was a generous one
and mented consideration, but the Minister of Information, Brendan Bracken, attacked the
proposal, arguing that there were cther houses in London, such as Bridgewater House,
where a bargain of this kind would bring greater advantage. Bracken was in a minority of
one, however, and when the Prime Minister, who had not been at the Cabinet meeting
was informed of the proposal he responded simply, it is a generous offer.”

't was agreed that the Ministry of Werks would take over the house and repair it for use
as a Wellington Museum, to be run by the Victoria and Albert Museum. It was also to be
used for Government hospitality. The Ministry tock a tenancy in January 1947 so that they
could carry out repairs in advance of the legal transfer of the house. Since the house had
been bought by the Duke of Wellingten with money granted by Parliament for his use
and that of his successors, transfer te the Ministry of Works could only be achieved by
passing ancther Act of Parliament. The Wellington Museum Act to enable the duke to
divest himself of the house and those contents which were classed as Parliamentary
heilooms was given Roval Assent on 31 July 1947.

't took until 1952 for the Museum to be made ready for cpening tc the public, which
gave the the duke cause to reconsider his offer. He wrote to R A Butler, Chancellor of
the Exchequer on 25 April 1952 that an important section of public opinion and of the
Press friendly to the present Government has always been hostile to the scheme and
considers that | and not the country am the gainer by it.”” He had come to assume ‘that
the Government regard the whcle business as an embarrassing legacy from their
predecessors and that they would be glad to be quit of it." He propesed a revised
arrangement whereby the Gevernment remained owners of the freehold, gave the duke
£10,000 to surrender his occupation cof the house and all the chattels would be returned
to him, with the right to sell even those which were scheduled as Parliamentary
heilcoms.

Butler wrote an emollient response, saying that in fact the government were keen to get
the museum open and the V&A had even been allowed to exceed its spending limits so
as speed progress. The Wellington Museum opened in the summer of 1952 and attracted
150,000 visitors in the first year, paying a shilling each for entrance. Attendance fell after
the first year and by June |956 there was an average of only 587 visitors a week. The
Lvening Standard proclaimed ‘this is an unwanted museum, and the Government should
close it

Difficult Cases

Not all owners were benign and altruistic and in such cases the limitations of the Ministry's
powers could be exposed. At monuments where the owner was deliberately neglectful
or was threatening tc damage the menument the positive actions available to the Ministry
were:
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— to seek either freehold acquisition or guardianship by agreement

— to give a grant to the owner for repairs

— to carry out first-aid repairs at the Ministry's expense

— toissue a Preservation Order, which may or may not lead to guardianship

Seeking to take over a monument by negotiation was one possible response to a threat
of demelition or damage. In 1948 The Clerk to Binham Parish Council in Norfolk
requested permission to have the Binham Wayside Cross demolished on the grounds
that it was a dangerous structure and the village could not afford to repair it. This was
treated as constituting the 3 menths notice an owner of a scheduled monument was
required to give the Ministry for any intended works™ Although they feared setting a
precedent which might be taken up by every other parish council, the Ministry offered to
take guardianship rather than allow the | 5th-century cross to be destroyed. Auckland
Castle Deer House, County Durham, was taken into guardianship in 1952 in respense to
a threat from the Church Commissioners that they would demclish the dangerous
portions cf the monument unless the Ministry of Werks tock over its maintenance. The
attitude of the Church Commissioners was that they could not be expected te pay for
expensive repairs te a building which was of no use to them. Without much enthusiasm,
the Ministry accepted this ultimatum, rather than lose the monument entirely.

The Ministry did not always respond to such threats of demolition by taking guardianship,
and sometimes it was prepared to let monuments go. The owners of Shank Castle (fig 6),
a ruined tower standing in a remote farmyard in Cumbria, wrote to the Ministry in 1949
to give notice of their intenticn to demolish it because it was unsafe. The Ancient
Monuments Beard recommended that the structure should be consolidated at the cest of
the Ministry, if that would satisfy the farmers. If they would nct co-cperate, however, the
Beard did not feel that the importance of the monument justified a Preservation Order.
When the owners rejected the coffer and re-affirmed their intention to demolish the
tower, no further action was taken by the Ministry.
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Fig & Shank Castle Solport, Cumbria i 1951, Reproduced by permission of English Hertage

Ancther example of this pragmatic approach is the Old Market Hall, Bishops Castle in
Shropshire {fig 7), an | 8th-century market hall, no longer used as such, which was both
scheduled and listed. The town council had long struggled to find a beneficial use for the
building and had twice in the 1930s appealed unsuccessfully tc central government for a
grant towards the cost of repairs. In 1947 the Ministry tumed down an offer of
guardianship on the grounds that they could nct afford the necessary repairs, due to their
heavy commitments elsewhere,

So when, in 1950, the town council wrote to give notice of their intention to demaolish,
the Ministry, advised by the Ancient Monuments Board that the building was not of
outstanding ment, opted not to oppose the demolition. In these two cases, the cost of
repairs relative to the archaeological and historical importance of the monument deterred
the Ministry from taking acticon, even though both had at one time been considered
worthy of scheduling.
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Fig 7t The Old Market Hal, Bishops Castle, Shropshire in 1948, Reprodisced by permission of
English Hentage

Section 3(3) of the 1931 Ancient Monuments Act gave the Minister the power to grant
aid work to a monument of which he was not the owner or guardian, excluding only
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inhabited buildings. The power was very rarely exercised, however, because the approval
of the Treasury was required in each individual case and as cne official stated in 1947,
‘when they have consented, they have always rehearsed their extreme reluctance to
agree to this sort of thing'. The other drawback of making grants was that it normally
required the owner to make some contribution and moest were either unable or unwilling
to do so. Worst of all, any assistance given to an owner was money taken away from the
Ministry's own properties, since there was no separate grants budget. [t was easier simply
to tell owners that they were unable to spend money on menuments which were not in
their control. This was true in the sense that they had no spare funds they could use for
grants, but it was a self-imposed restriction. Sericus consideration was given to grant-
aiding the Iron Bridge in 1947-48, as a way of enccuraging the County Council to accept
Guardianship, but the Ministry of Transport was persuaded to provide grant-aid instead.
Generally, however, in this peried guardianship was considered ahead of grant-aid as a
way of preserving a menument.

The same section of the 1931 Act allowed the Ministry to carry out work on behalf of an
owner, at its own expense if necessary. This power was used to carry out emergency
repairs on monuments which were in the process of being transferred, but where the
need for work was too urgent to wait for all the legal formalities. Work started at Bishops
Wealtham Palace in advance of the conclusion of legal formalities and also at
Appuldurcombe House where Ministry labour undertock the safe removal of the
remaining roofs and floors of a building which was to be presented as a ruin. The Ministry
had demclished large parts of Chiswick House several years before guardianship cf the
house was finalised. The same power was alsc used as a temporary measure to deal with
the case of Rushton Triangular Lodge, where the owners showed no sign of wishing to
maintain their part of England's heritage. Their reluctance tc repair the monument, which
stoed in a quiet comer of the Rushton Hall estate was based on the belief that it would
encourage visitors and since they made money out of letting the shooting rights on the
estate, anything which was likely te disturb the birds was undesirable. The case was
described as one of ‘persistent and deliberate neglect. The owners did make an attempt
to carry out some repairs in | 942, but their request for grant aid towards the work was
turned down. Instead, after two mere

years of decay, the Ministry sent their own men to the monument, with the approval of
the owner, to carry out first-aid work at the Ministry's expense {fig 8). In the case of
Rushten Trangular Ledge, 2 voluntary guardianship was eventually agreed, in 1950.
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Fig & Rushton Trianguiar Lodge Northamptonshire, in 1545, during emergency repairs camed out
at the Ministry’s expense. Reproduced by permission of English Hentage

Where owners could not be won round by any means, the Ministry was forced to
consider the use of Preservation Orders. The power to make Preservation Orders came
from section & of the 1913 Act, as amended by section 4 of the 1931 Act. It enabled the
Minister to prevent work being undertaken which would damage or destroy a menument
of national importance (even if it was not scheduled). While a Preservation Onder was in
force, the Minister could constitute himself guardian of a monument, without the consent
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of the owner. If the owner cbjected, the Minister would be forced to seek confirmation
of the Preservation Order by Parliament to make it permanent, without which it would
lapse after 21 months. Two very similar cases arose in this period, which illustrate the
difficulties the Ministry had in making use of this power.

Home's Place Chapel, near Appledore in Kent {fig 9), was a rare survival of a small
domestic chapel of the 4th century, attached to a farmhouse on a working farm. When
the farm was put up for sale in March 1948, an architect from the Ministry visited to see if
the chapel was worthy of preservation and as a result it was scheduled on 5 June 1948.
This gave the Ministry a stake in the future of the monument and after long deliberation
they wrote to the new owners at the end of 1949, suggesting they carry out repairs
costing about £750. The response from the owner, Nellie Daines, was that she could not
afford to spend that much on the chapel and since it was a national menument, the
nation should pay for its upkeep. For good measure, she reperted that she had
considered stripping the roof because tiles were falling off and landing in the yard. She did,
however, offer to sell the monument to the ministry. The Inspectorate attempted to
negotiate for guardianship, but the owners were obdurate and repeated their threats to
unrccf the building on safety grounds. This put the Department in the same position they
had been in with regard tc Shank Castle (see above). Horne's Place Chapel, however,
was considered worth fighting for.

A Preservation Order was signed by the Minister on 28 September 1950 and the
following day it was delivered by hand to Mr Daines and a copy nailed to the door of the
chapel."” When Mrs Daines sent formal notice of her objection to Crder, the Ministry
recognised this as a ‘test case’. Sir Eric de Normann did not see how they could back
down ‘as we shall only lcok ridiculous, offend the Ancient Monuments Board, and
generally encourage cther owners to resist.’ On the other hand, it was potentially
embarrassing, at a time when Parliament was expecting an anncuncement on measures tc
save the great houses of England {in response tc the Gowers Report (see p.46) for the
Ministry instead to bring forward a Bill for the preservation of a small and obscure disused
chapel. Mcreover, the cost of putting a Bill through Parliament would be encugh to pay
for the Ministry te lease the chapel from the farmer. While the emergency repair work
commenced cn site {see fig. 9), renewed efforts were made to seek voluntary
guardianship in face-to-face negotiations.
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Fig 9 Horne's Place Chapel Kent, in 1952, affer first-aid repairs to the roof but before full
restoration of the monument. Reproduced by permission of Engiish Herttage

By March 1951, Mrs Daines had withdrawn her objection, allowing the Preservation
Order and compulsory guardianship to stand, without the need for a special Act of
Pariament.

In the case of Horne's Place Chapel, the Ministry was quick to seek authority fora
Preservation Order, before any serious negotiation had taken place. The owners' attitude
was equally confrontational, but at heart it was a refusal to be told what to do by the men
from YYhitehall. In respect of the access conditions associated with guardianship, Mr
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Daines was quoted in the Afvenng News as saying:  ‘visitors to the district sometimes
asked permission to look over the old chapel, and | always agreed. But having to admit

pecple by Government order is a different matter.'

The other menument where Preservation Orders played a role was a similar case, but
both the monument, and the difficulties invelved in securing its preservation were on a
larger scale. Wingfield Manor, Derbyshire, was a manor house of the 1440s, in which
Mary Queen of Scots had at one time been imprisoned. The Department had been
involved with the site from at least 1920 when it tumed down the chance to purchase
the extensive ruins. Since then efforts had been made both to persuade the owners to do
repairs and to cbtain guardianship. Those efforts were renewed when it was discovered
in 1949 that the monument had new owners, two young farmers named Critchlow. A
visit was made by Ministry officials and the ruins were found to be in poer condition and
one of the Critchlow brothers was described as being prepared to fight to the death to
keep his farmstead. A follow-up letter suggesting guardianship and several subsequent
reminders were steadfastly ignored by the Critchlows, forcing the Ministry to consider
compulscry action. The Ancient Monuments Board was consulted in May 1951 and they
advised that the monument was in danger from neglect and a Preservation Order should
be issued. F | Root surmised that ‘if we issue a2 Preservation Order the owner will come
to heel', but with the Home's Place Chapel case only recently resolved, the Ministry
decided to postpone any action. It was thought more prudent to wait a few months for
the anticipated new legislation on historic buildings which would contain a simplified
process for Preservation Crders. (The new process and the eventual resolution of the
Wingfield Mancr case are described in Volume Seven of this series.
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MAKING A COLLECTION: POLICY

In January 1949 the Chief Inspecter of Ancient Menuments Bryan O'Neil, who had been
an [nspector since 1930, remarked that ‘at the cutset of our ancient meonuments work
many vears ago we ought probably to have aimed at getting 2 good representative
selection of monuments of all types in our charge, whereas we had actually taken them
over haphazardly as offers were made." This was probably inevitable since the process
was essentially reactive, being triggered by a request for help from an owner cr by a
repert that a monument was in peor condition. A considerable amount of work was
done in this period, however, tc try tc define mere clearly the menuments which were
worthy of preservation at public expense.

O'Neil felt it should be possible to take a more strategic approach to acquisitions and te
target the limited number of outstandingly important monuments in the main categories —
castles and monastic sites — that cught to be in the hands of the Ministry. In 1949 a short
list of desirable menuments (see Appendix 2) was drawn up by O'Neil, under four
headings: Nerman keeps, other medieval castles, pre-Norman churches and medieval
monasteries. Progress on the last category was almost instant, three of the 18 entries
being taken cver within three vears, at which point ©'Neil wrote that ‘the day is perhaps
not far distant when we shall be able tc say that we have in our charge all the mest
important monastic remains in England and Wales.™ In general, however, the list seems
to be of limited practical value. It was acknowledged that some of these were well locked
after by their owners, in which case there was nc need for the Ministry tc take them over.
Nor was the acceptance of new menuments limited to the items on the list, even within
those few categories.

The Ministry proceeded to take over several monuments which were not on G'Neil's list,
but which they could nevertheless declare to be definitely in guardianship class. Just a few
years later, Rochester Castle, which was omitted by O'Neil, was described by the next
Chief Inspector as ‘perhaps the most important castle in the country which is not in cur
hands" and later still by Az successor as ‘a monument of such major importance that it
ought to be brought inte national custody’ (which happened eventuzlly in 1965). When
Leiston Abbey was put forward for guardianship in 1956, the fact that it had not appeared
on O'Neil's list was explained as ‘probably an accident’ and because the monument was
considered first-class it was accepted, despite the financial constraints of the time.
Nevertheless, in 1952 O'Neil was looking forward to the ‘ultimate conclusion’ of the
Ministry's work in its traditional fields and to expansion in other areas.

Medieval houses were one area which had hardly been touched before the War, but now
saw a significant increase in activity. ‘Such monuments are much less obvious than castles
and abbeys,” wrote O'Nell, ‘and it requires much research before we can be sure we have
chosen good examples, but this is worth while." The Inspectorate was well aware of the
excavaticn history and literature of Roman and Prehisteric sites as well as later castles and
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abbeys, but the same resources did not exist to enable judgements to be made so easily
on medieval houses which might be offered to the Ministry.

When Cld Soar Manor was propesed for guardianship, O'Neil wrote that ‘although there
is no ready reference list of houses of [the | 3th] century, | know this te be a good
example of its class.” Things were changing, however, and the Inspectorate was able to
make use of research by Dr Margaret Wood (published in 1952 as 7Thirteenth Ceniury
Domestic Architecture in Fngland). Presenting buildings of this kind was important, O'Neil
felt, because in that way ‘we can do our bit to educate the public to a full appreciation of
English history. Life in medieval times was not confined to castles and abbeys, but this
obvious fact is often concealed even from otherwise well-educated people.™

Historic gardens also received some attention in this period. The gardens at Wrest Park,
Bedfordshire were taken into care in 1946 as an ad Aoc measure, as much for the statuary
and the garden buildings as the landscape itself. The Inspector dealing with that case was
George Chettle, who in 1951 was asked to make a list of gardens of historic importance.
This was prempted by cencerns that where houses had been requisitioned by public
bodies there was a tendency to cover their gardens in ‘hutted camps.® Chettle's list was
completed by February 1952 and comprised 99 gardens and parks {see Appendix 3). Nc

consideration appears to have been given to taking any of the gardens into guardianship.

Industrial Monuments

‘Hitherte we have concentrated nearly all cur rescurces upon medieval monuments',
wrote Bryan O'Neil (Chief Inspector of Ancient Menuments) in 1948, but in his view the
Ministry should look to widen its scope te ‘other monuments, both earlier and later in
date."® O'Neil himself was a man of wide historical interests who could be as enthusiastic
about a Roman settlement as he could about a medieval church or an | 8th-century blast
furnace, and through his efferts in particular cases the range of monuments which were
considered worthy of guardianship expanded during this period.

The definiticn of a monument in the Ancient Mcnuments Acts was so broad as to include
anything man-made except a church that was in use for worship. G'Neil, who was a
member of the Newcomen Society (which studied the histery of engineering and
technology), believed that the Ministry should be using the Ancient Monuments Acts to
preserve early industrial equipment. In 1947 the Ancient Monuments Board agreed that
early industrial equipment could be treated as ancient monuments and approved in
principle the scheduling of the best examples. In 1951 the Beard discussed industnal
moenuments and expressed the view that ‘the Minister should use all his power to
preserve important relics of this nature.
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A start was made by taking over two windmills in East Anglia: Berney Arms Windmill in
Norfolk (fig 10) in 1950 and Saxtead Green Post Mill in Suffolk in 1951, (Acquisition of a
third windmill, Sibsey Trader in Lincolnshire was agreed in 1952, but fell through when the
owner died.) Windmills were fast going out of use as other forms of power took over
and it was timely that these three examples should be offered while still in working order.
Although they were in a sense industrial monuments, as Baillie Reynolds later commented
traditional mills were pernaps better understood as survivals from the middle ages which
had ‘been suppressed by electric and oil-engines as effectively as the monasteries were by
Henry VIIL*

Fg 10 Berney Armms Windmil, Norfolk, in 1949, Reproduced by permission of English Herrtage

The Ministry's position was more equivocal when it came to monuments of the Industrial
Revolution such as early railways, pottenes, iron and steel-working and pumping engines,
O'Nell foresaw the extinction of such things within a few years unless the Ministry could
take them over, and since, as he said, ‘the Empire was built on them™” he felt it was
important to act. The first definite attempt to take over such a monument concerned
Morley Park Ironworks in Derbyshire (fig | 1).

Two blast furmaces - one late | Bth-century and the other early |9th- century — were the
surviving remnants of a large iron smelting works, abandoned in what was now a rural
landscape. After visiting in 1949, O'Neil recommended acceptance if an offer of
guardianship were made, but he could only say that such structures seemed rare, and
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therefore important, because unlike more traditional types of monument, research on
early industrial monuments did not yet exist to confirn this impression. When asked tc
rank the ironworks with other current offers, however, he put it above the more
conventional ments of Bury St Edmunds Abbey.

Fig 1 1: Morley Fark lronworks, Derbyshire in 1952, Reproduced by permission of Fnglish Hentage

While the Inspecterate and administrators of the Ministry were prepared to break new
ground by accepting guardianship of the lronworis, the politicians were not. The first offer
was rejected in 1951 after the intervention of Lord Morrison who convinced the (Labour)
Minister, Richard Stokes, that ‘once we start making ancient monuments of old industrial
buildings we are committing ourselves to a lot of expense in the future'. The following
year the new (Conservative) Minister, David Fccles said that he liked ‘the idea of
preserving some of the best bits of the industrial revolution’, but would not approve the
necessary expenditure and the proposal came to nothing.

Another industrial monument was tumed down for guardianship shortly after and for
similar reasons. The Wortley lronworks in Sheffield had ceased production in 1929 but
the Top Forge survived and was seen in |952 as the best preserved early |8th-century
forge in England. The Sheffield Trades Historical Society was attempting to purchase the
site when the owners, frustrated by delays in the sale going through, advertised the
hammers and water wheels for sale as scrap. The Ministry scheduled the site to protect it,
but tumed down the offer of guardianship for fear of setting a precedent which might
prove expensive later. Instead the Sheffield Trades Historical Society took over the
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ironworks in 1953 and were given advice on repair by the Ministry. Other rejected offers
of industrial monuments include Ash Mill and Black Mill, both in Kent, lford Mill in
Semerset, Kit Hill Chimney Stack in Cornwall and Draper's Mill in Sussex.” These cases
show the difficulty the Ministry had in dealing with novel casework, where there was little
research and no established policy to guide them.

Redundant Churches

The redundant parish church was another type of historic building that in the late 1940s
the Ministry was forced to deal with for the first time. Ever since the 1913 Act had
excluded any ‘ecclesiastical building which is for the time being used for ecclesiastical
purposes”' the Office of Works had followed the policy that the Church in England
sheuld take responsibility for the maintenance of its places of worship, even where they
were no longer in use. As Sir Charles Peers observed in 1932,

‘Much care was taken, when the [1913] AM Act was being drafted, tc see that the
State should get no sort of control over the churches. But we have on more than
cne cccasicn found that when the Church has no further use for an ecclesiastical
building, it has been quite ready to shift the responsibility for its maintenance cn
to the State, that is, onto public funds. | consider that we should view these
advances with extreme cauticn, and certainly in normal cases should take the line
that the preperty of the church, whether in use or net, should be a charge on
their own funds, and not on the State, which is normally denied any control over
that property.””

The handful of church buildings that were in the care of the Ministry had been given by
private owners, rather than the Church autherities, and their most recent use was more
often agricultural than ecclesiastical. By the |940s, however, there was a clear and growing
problem of parish churches and chapels of ease which had relatively recently fallen out of
religious use, could no longer be maintained by the parish and yet were of such historical
and architectural interest that their preservation was desirable. In the autumn of 1949, a
report to the Church Assembly stated that there were about 400 redundant or rarely
used church buildings, of which 300 were cof historic and architectural impertance. The
repert went on te recommend that the Church should make the necessary legislative
amendments to allow for churches ‘of sufficient architectural or historical importance’ to
be offered to the Ministry of Works in guardianship, ‘if ne other means of preservation
appears to be available.!

The Ministry had co-operated with the committee which created the report, on the basis
that it would in due course be able to accept into the national collection certain of the
best examples from among the buildings which the Church had closed or wished to close.
This was a far cry from the attitude of Charles Peers quoted above. While it reflects a
seneral willingness of the Ministry at this time to move into new areas, it fundamentally
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came out of a beliel in the importance of historic churches. In making a general case for
extending guardianship to this class of menument, Bryan O'Neil wrote: ‘One of the
distinguishing characteristics of the English scene in town and country is the prevalence of
old dignified churches...... it is not an exaggeration to say that they form the main part of
the English heritage of architecture and art.  If we do not preserve the best of these
churches, he continued, ‘the English-speaking world will be much poorer, since we shall
lose a very large number of first-class medieval buildings.

Dioceses were asked to submit a list of churches which, under the arrangements cutlined
in the report to the Church Assembly, they would wish to offer to the Ministry for
guardianship. A list of 108 churches was received, from which 50 were selected as
definitely worthy of guardianship, 27 were rejected altogether and another 31 were
classed as ‘undecided’. The reason for their decision in each case is not recorded and the
chosen churches are a mixed group, almost all medieval in crigin, but including some that
were restored thoroughly in the |9th century. Although negotiations were only taking
place with the Church of England, it was acknowledged within the Ministry that they
would ‘have to look with strict impartiality at the edifices of all dencminations, having
regard only to the historic and architectural importance.”™

In parallel to these attempts to deal with redundant churches as a class, sericus
consideration was given to two individual parish churches in particular. Great Witley
Parish Church, Worcestershire {fig |2) stood bleakly next to the ruins of Witley Court,
which burnt down in 1937, Located at a distance from the nearest village it was dnfting
towards complete disuse. The vicar wrote in 1947 that ‘My prime concem is to

provide my people with an adequate building in which to worship God. The Church at
Witley Court can never do this. It is much toe far from where the people live, and set in
its scene of desolation is most depressing. The only hope of preserving this Church is to
move it.”””
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Flg 1 2: Great Witley parish church, Worcestershire, in 1942, Reproduced by permission of English
Hertage

Alerted to the deteriorating condition of the church by the Georgian Group in 194/, the
Ministry was in no doubt about the importance of the church but hesitated to act while a
general policy was being worked out. O'Neil proposed that 'here and there we might
rmake an exception in our attitude of waiting and endeavour to deal with really good
cases. This, it seerns to me, is a really good case.™
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Meanwhile, in 1951, the Ministry was told by Lord Methuen that Dodington Park Chapel,
Gloucestershire, which he described as 'one of our Regency gems', was in a serious state
of disrepair (fig 13).>" Although built as a country house chapel by James Wyatt, it was in
use as a parish church and therefore beyond the scope of the Ancient Menuments Acts.
't was proposed by the Bristol Diccesan Adviscry Committee and the Geoergian Group,
however, that the chapel should be declared redundant, which would have enabled the
owner, Sir Christopher Codnington, to place the building in guardianship. The condition of
the chapel was a concern, dry rot spreading rapidly through the interior, but despite the
high potential cost of repairs guardianship was accepted in principle in November 1951,

Before either of these parish churches could be tzken into guardianship, however, some
fundamental issues had to be resolved. Under existing church legislation it was not legal to
dispose of a church building for preservation as a monument, so although the Ministry of
Works could accept a closed church, the Church authorities lacked the power to place a
building in the Ministry's charge. Conversely, the Church wished to offer guardianship cnly
if it was able to revoke the agreement in the event of the building being needed again for
parish use at some point in the future. In this case it was the government which lacked the
requisite powers, because guardianship under the Ancient Monuments Acts was
irrevocable. (It seems that the question of the churches being sold or leased to the
Ministry — both of which mechanisms weuld have allowed for reversion to the Church —
was not explored.)

A power for the Minister to revoke guardianship with six months notice was included in
an ambiticus draft ‘heritage’ Bill in 1951, but did nct appear in the final, simplified form of
the legislaticn. New ecclesiastical legislaticn — the Unicn of Benefices Measure 1952 — did
allow fer church buildings to be preserved as monuments after closure, but without the
corresponding secular legislation it was a dead letter. As for the twe pioneering cases,
Great Witley was saved by the Historic Churches Preservation Trust which stepped in tc
pay for repairs while the Ministry was still debating what to de and the church remains in
use as a place of worship today; Dodington was declared redundant in the summer of
1953, but its condition had worsened so much by that time that the Ministry, ‘in sorrow,
withdrew its agreement te take it over, believing the building tc be beycend repair. In 1954
the Naticnal Buildings Record made a photographic record of the building in anticipation
of democlition (fig |3}, but the chapel was later repaired with a histeric buildings grant
from the Ministry of Works.

Eventually the Ministry was forced to give up the idea of taking over a large number of
churches. In the words of the Bridges Report of 1960 a ‘period of national financial
stringency ensued and the proposal was dropped.”® This was a polite gloss on the real
events by an experienced Whitehall mandarin (who was Permanent Secretary to the
Treasury at the time). Essentially there was a failure on the part of the government as a
whole to appreciate the importance of the issue and the proposal was reduced to a
narrow argument between Treasury and Ministry of Works officials over Ancient
Monuments expenditure.
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The Ministry estimated modest expenditure of £30,000 for initial repair of 60 church
buildings and a further £30,000 per annum for maintenance and custedy. Initially the
Treasury argued for deferral of any decision on redundant churches pending the new
historic buildings legislation that was in preparation; then that it was not appropriate to
ear-mark funds for any one class of monument. Eventually it agreed that £10,000 could be
allocated out of an increased provision for 1954-55 to ‘make a start’ on redundant
churches, with Great Witley parish church suggested as a suitable first candidate.” This
was a long way short of the funds needed if the Ministry was to make a major
commitment to solving the problem of redundant churches. Three ruined churches
{(Knowlton Church, Mistley Towers and Bristol Temple Church) were accepted for
guardianship in 1954-55 but the wider problem had effectively been shelved for the time
being.
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fg 1 3: Dodington Park Chapel Gloucestershire, in [954 Reprodiced By permission of English
Hertage

Although the efforts of the Church and the Ministry of Warks came to nothing in the
short termn, they did pave the way for the Pastoral Measure of 268 which areated a
workable framework for securing the future of redundant churches. The
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recommendations of the 1949 Keport of the Commytlee on Disused Churches
anticipated the later legislation in a number of ways. The recommendation that the DAC
be asked to advise con the architectural and historic interest of closed churches prefigured
the Adviscry Board set up after 1968. The Report recommended that a closed church
building should be vested in the Diccesan Board of Finance; this was later made law in the
Union of Benefices Measure 1952 and was retained as the mechanism for disposing of
churches in the Pastoral Measure 1968, The Report also contained a recommendation
that churches of high architectural or historical interest should be offered to the Ministry
of Works for preservation and that this should be done in such a way as to allow for the
building's retum to ecclesiastical use in the future. Both of these measures were
reccmmended again in the Bridges Repert and were legislated forin 1968.

Country Houses

By the end of the Second World War it was universally accepted that England's country
houses faced a bleak future. The pressures which were forcing landowners in this period
to surrender ancient menuments to the care of the government were also affecting their
ability to maintain their family homes. Yet under the Ancient Monuments Acts it was
impossible for the Ministry of Works to accept guardianship of an inhabited house in the
way it might a ruined castle or an earthwork on the same owner's estate. [t was possible
by other means for the Ministry to take over an inhabited house {ie assuming freehold
ownership by gift or purchase) but the cost would have been so great compared to the
sort of monument with which it normally dealt that to take on more than a handful would
not have been a practical proposition. The National Trust's Country House Scheme,
made possible by legislation passed in 1939, did scme cof the work that the Ministry could
not, but it was limited to those buildings where an endowment could be provided to pay
for future maintenance.

The preblem of country houses which faced the Ministry of Works had two sides: how to
preserve houses of architectural cr historic interest where the owner no longer wished to
live there; and how tc save a house from decay where cwners did nct wish to give up
residence. The Ministry was involved with both types of house in the second half of the

| 940s. Having always operated on the assumption that inhabited hcuses were entirely
beyond its sphere of activity, in 1943 the Ancient Monuments Department realised that in
fact the 1913 Act enabled them to acquire such buildings by purchase or receive them by
gift, even though they were excluded explicitly by s 3(2) frem guardianship. VWhen, in
November 1945, Lord Methuen initiated a debate in the House of Lords on a mcticn
which called for increased government powers for the preservation of historic buildings,
the Ministry tock the opportunity to advertise their potential role in this area. Lord
Henderson, speaking for the Ministry, stated that it was able to accept inhabited houses
‘as a gift, with or without an endowment, or to buy them'*”
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Fig 14 Brede Flace, Fast Sussex: par excellence’ the sort of house that the Ministry wanied to
take over. @ Crown Copyright, FH

In January 1946 the Ministry received its first {(and - as it turned out - only) approach on
these lines from an owner of an occupied country house. Clare Sheridan, an eccentric
sculptress and a cousin of Winston Churchill, offered her house, Brede Place in Sussex (fig
|43, as a gift to the government on the basis that she would be able to live in part of it. Sir
Erc de Normann's response was that he ‘certainly should like to see [the Ministry of
Works] taking over some of the finer old houses' and he believed that if they could come
to an agreement with Mrs Shendan it would encourage other owners to offer their
houses on similar terms. C'Neil visited the house in May 1946 and wrote afterwards: it is
par excelfencethe sort of inhabited house we had in mind, when Lord Henderson drew
attention to our powers in the House of Lords." After some negotiation, however, the
owner withdrew her offer, put off by the conditions attached to the deal by the Ministry
and on the advice of Winston Churchill,

Unlike Mrs Sheridan of Brede Place, Henry Neville of Audley End House in Essex no
longer wished to occupy the stately home he had recently inherited. In 1943, while
Audley End was requisitioned for military use, his cousin the 8th Lord Braybrooke had
ded and both house and title passed tc him. After meeting the new Lord Braybrocke in
May 1944, James Lees-Milne described him as ‘embarrassed by his inhentance’ and ‘at his
wits' end what to do with Audley End.®' Braybrooke had approached Lees-Milne to ask if
the National Trust might take it over. Two lots of death duties had to be paid on the
estate and he could not afford to live in the house, afthough he sincerely wished to see it
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properly preserved. With many owners facing similar problems, the Trust was entenng its
‘golden age of country-house acquisition™™ when such major houses as Attingham Park,
Stourhead, Knole and Lyme Park came into its care.

Normally the Trust would only accept 2 house as a gift, with an accompanying
endowment — in cash orin land — to provide for its future maintenance. In the case of
Audley End, however, Lord Braybrooke was prevented by his trustees from giving the
house away as a gift and could not afford to provide an endowment. It was necessary
therefore to find both a tenant (to pay for the upkeep) and the purchase money if the
National Trust was to teke over the house. Lees-Milne attempted to interest a number of
potential users and came close to setting up the sale of the house to the Earl of Wilten,
but by 1946 he was forced to turmn to the government for help. Sir Alan Barlow of the
Treasury gave a sympathetic response initially and wrote to the Ministry of Works asking
for confirmation of the Trust's view that the house was in fair condition.

Sir Eric de Normann replied by putting in an unsclicited bid for the house on behalf of his
Ministry. If ‘this extremely important house is to be acquired for the public, cnly if the
Treasury put up the £30,000, we think that it ought to come to us to look after and shew
[sic] to the public, rather than be given to the National Trust.” Officials of the Ministry
had a considerable sense of rivalry in relation to the Trust and believed they were better
qualified to look after histeric buildings as well as ancient monuments. Audley End must
have appeared an ideal opportunity to prove their case. ‘One or two country houses of
this supreme quality’, de Normann centinued, ‘ocught, we think to be available for full
inspection by the public, like Hampton Court in Londen. Houses like Audley End are at
present known to very few except from photographs and descriptions in books not
readily available.

The Treasury was for the time being inclined to continue dealing with the Trust, attracted
by their idea of an educational use combined with opening the State recms to the public.
Reluctant generally te find meney for the work of the Ancient Monuments Department,
the Treasury was particularly against the idea of maintaining ‘white elephants’ at public
expense if a viable use could instead be found for a building. The Naticnal Trust informed
them that they were in negctiation with the Cambridge University department of extra-
mural studies to use the house as a residential college. In doing so they were unwittingly
destroying their own chances of taking over Audley End.

Treasury officials considered that it made more sense for the user of the house tc be
respensible for it and Cambridge University did after all have long experience of caring for
ancient buildings. The Treasury was also keen not to advertise its generosity, and while
the purchase mecney ceuld be wrapped up in the nermal annual grant to the University,
without the need for any special provision, a grant to the Naticnal Trust would inevitably
become public knowledge. Quite apart from embarrassing the Treasury when it was
trying to restrict government spending as a whole, it might also undermine the willingness
of country house owners in future to give their property away for nothing, if they knew
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the government might purchase instead, and the flow of denations to the Trust might dry
up.

Cambridge University eventually decided that the house was not suitable for its use, and
London University later came te the same conclusion. At that point, to general surprise,
the Ministry of Education came forward to propose that it should use the house for
residential education conferences and as an ‘educational laboratery', with the house
vested in and maintained by the Ministry of Works. The Chancellor of the Exchequer,
Hugh Dalton, who had taken a personal interest in the case, approved this proposal ‘with
great satisfaction” and the Ministry was asked to proceed with the purchase of the house
on behalf of the government. Lees-Milne was crestfallen: *| am sorry that the NT has not
gol it...because | am convinced that they will present houses better than the tasteless

Ministry of Works,™*

Negotiations nearly came to grief in 1948 because the two parties could not agree cn the
(monetary) value of the house, but they were saved by the intervention of Sir Edward
Bridges, Permanent Secretary to the Treasury.” He argued that ‘any valuation for a
property such as Audley End at the present time is bound to be rather unreal’ and it was
more important to focus on the principle of whether the State ‘should find means of
preserving a limited number cf the great country houses cf the land." To his mind, Audley
End was certainly in the 20 or 30 greatest houses in England and it deserved the skilled
attention that only the Ancient Monuments Department could give. *All this, ne doubt, is
a very unorthodox minute for a Permanent Secretary to the Treasury to write; but it
happens to be what | feel about the subject.™

On 2 February 1949 the Ministry of Works took possession of the house, on the basis
that they would open it as a ‘show-place’ in the interim, until the work necessary for the
Ministry of Education use could be undertaken. Plans were made for a new building cn
the north side of the mansion to accommeodate student bedrocoms, staff quarters and a
dining room and kitchens, which could not be provided within the house. Ironically, since
they had pressed hard for a beneficial use for the house as a condition of its purchase for
the nation, the Treasury refused to release money for the new building and by the
beginning of 1951 it had been postponed sine die. Thus Audley End House became a
permanent, state-owned ‘show-place’, not the cutcome that moest of those involved in
the process had intended, but a coup for the Ancient Monuments Department. The
public was admitted for the first time on Easter Monday (18 Apnl), 1549.

The case of Audley End prompted the Treasury to look seriously for means of positive
preservation of histeric buildings and in particular country houses. A few days after Sir
Edward Bridges had urged his colleagues tc consider the principle of whether the state
should be preserving a small number of the best hcuses, the Ministry of Works was asked
to provide the Chancellor of the Exchequer with a list of houses of
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Fig 15 Visitors queuing at the Lion Gate Audiey £nd House Fssex in May 1950, Reprodiced by
permission of Fngiish Hermtage

notable historic or architectural interest which should be ‘preserved at all costs’. A list was
quickly compiled of 52 ‘important country houses' in England and Wales which were not
already protected by the Naticnal Trust, local authonties or the government (see
Appendix 3).% It ranged in time from | 2th century Boothby Pagnell to 18th century
Compten Yemey. No | 9th century houses were included, so there is no work on the list
by the likes of Soane, Nash or Barry {except his alterations to Harewocod House).

Shortly after, ancther list was produced for the Treasury, of ‘typical houses worthy of
preservation’ (see Appendix 4), which rather than concentrating on great houses was
aimed at giving a representative selection of the best domestic architecture of various
kinds. Hence, in a list of 4| individual houses, there were, in addition to famous Tudor and
Ceorgian mansions, examples of manor houses {(Hemingford Grey), castles (Stokesay)
and town houses (44 Berkeley Square). The most recent house on the list was Dodington
Park in Gloucestershire, a house by James Wyatt of ¢ | 800. More remarkably, nearly 20
years before protection for conservation areas was put on the statute book, examples
were given of streets (such as Bridge Street [presumably intended to be Broad Street] in
Ludlow) and groups of houses (for example the Royal Crescent at Bath cr Bedford
Square in London) which were worthy of preservation. The inclusion of these groups
stemmed from an intimation by Treasury officials that they were prepared to consider
acquiring houses, squares or even a village, if that was what the experts advised.
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MAKING A COLLECTION: PRACTICE

Despite speradic attempts to make policy to guide their choices, the selection of
monuments to be taken into the care of the Ministry was still largely done on an ad Aoc
basis. The aim was always to take only first-class monuments, but factors beside
archaeological and historical importance could influence the decision. At the beginning of
this period the decisicn-making process was remarkably informal and unbureaucratic. The
only essential steps once an explicit offer had been received were to cbtain the
reccmmendation of the Chief Inspector of Ancient Monuments and an estimate of the
likely cost of repairs from an architect. The decision to accept or reject was taken within
the Department {provided expenditure was below the threshold at which Treasury
approval was required). In the early 1950s the process started tc become mare formal
and long-winded and the politicians in the Ministry started to get involved. Thus the ability
of the experts to make the ccllection as they might have wished was reduced.

The vast majority of monuments taken intc guardianship were judged by the Inspectorate
to be of the highest importance within their cwn category. This was judged by a mixture
of personal knowledge, evidence from excavations, documentary sources and occasionally
the advice of external experts. The Chief Inspector, Bryan C'Neil had excavated Old
Oswestry Hill Fort in 1939-40, so when it was offered in 1945, he could declare
authoritatively that it ranked ‘as one of the world's most imposing ancient sites." Cne of
his areas of expertise was in the development of medieval fortifications, sc he was alsc
able to speak from his own detailed knowledge in recommending the acceptance of
monuments such as Totnes Castle — ‘amongst the nine most impoertant of its kind in
Britain’ — or Conisbrough Castle — ‘it demonstates the principle of defence of its day as
well as any keep.” O'Neil's comment on Hardknott Roman Fort reveals the extent to
which monuments were collected on reputation: ‘| have never seen Hardknott Castle, but
feel quite sure from its reputation ameng archaeclogists that it should be under cur direct
control’. Nevertheless, Baillie Reynclds was sent to inspect, so reputaticn alone was not
sufficient in that case.

Not all sites taken into guardianship in this peried were scheduled — there was no
requirement for a menument to be designated in order for it to be taken over by the
Ministry — and some were largely or wholly unknown. Excavations scmetimes revealed or
proved that a site was worthy of preservation. Deddingten Castle in Oxfordshire was
accepted after trial excavations carried out by E M Jope in 1947 had revealed a keep and
curtain wall of the 12th century and a | 3th-century chapel and eight supenmposed layers
of 12th-century pottery. The chance to extend the excavations and reveal the complete
layout made it an ‘eminently desirable example” and it came inte the national collection as
a gift in 1951, Stanwick Camp was the subject of Ministry-funded excavation at the
suggestion of Sir Eric de Normann; the work was supervised by Sir Mortimer Wheeler,
Although carried out purely for research purposes, the results (‘the most spectacular thing
| have done in this country’ said Wheeler) persuaded O'Neil that it should be in
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guardianship and it came into the national collection in 1953, Caister Roman Site was
subject to a rescue excavation carried cut in advance of a housing development, but the
discoveries were considered so valuable that authorsation was obtained to purchase the
site and it was eventually acquired in 1954

At a time before the large-scale inventorisation of the built hertage, undocumented
monuments might still be offered. Burton Agnes Manor appears tc have been totally
unrecorded when in 1946 O'Neil was invited to inspect it by the architect Sir William
Milner, a relation of the owner (and formerly a member of the Ministry's panel of
architects advising on its wartime Salvage Scheme (see Volume Five)). On the basis of his
visit, O'Neil judged it to be ‘of very great historical and architectural merit' and strongly
recommended acceptance. While Longthorpe Tower had been written up in the Victoria
County History, its special claim to preservation was the newly-discovered set of | 4th-
century wallpaintings and the Ministry was advised by Clive Rouse FSA on their
importance. He believed them to be a unique survival in a domestic building, which was
enough to make the building of guardianship class, (although later discoveries showed that
they were nct in fact unique).

Longthorpe was cne example of an external expert being relied upon to inform the
nspectorate on the importance of a monument. Similarly, in the area of medieval houses,
they were aided by recent research by Dr Margaret Wood {(published in 1952 as
Thirteenth Century Domestic Architecture in Fngland). When windmills started to be
considered as possible guardianship sites, external expertise persuaded the Ministry to
accept their first two examples: a list provided by the SPAB ranked Berney Arms
Windmill as number cne in a selection of important mills, while the mills expert Rex
Wailes convinced O'Neil of the importance of Saxtead Green Post Mill.

OCther organisations also had an influence on the formation of the collecticn and in this
period the Georgian Group was probably the most influential. Formed in 1937, it acted as
a ‘cheerleader’ for | 8th and early |9th-century buildings at a time when they were under
threat. In 1946 it was the Gecrgian Group which drew the Ministry's attention to
Appuldurcombe House cn the Isle of Wight after they learnt of the cwner's plans tc
demolish it. Claud Phillimore's plan for Chiswick House had been premoted by the
Georgian Group and after a meeting with the Ministry in June 194/, it was agreed that the
Chairman of the Geoergians, Lord Rosse, would discuss the SPAB's opposition to the plan
with its Chairman Lord Esher, instead of the Ministry itself pursuing the matter.

The Georgian Group also worked, unsuccessfully, tc have Great Witley parish church,
Worcestershire, Dodington Park Chapel, Gloucestershire and the Palladian Bridge at Prior
Park, Bath, taken into guardianship. In each case the Ministry was entirely convinced of the
architectural and historical importance of the monument, but other facters prevented the
transfer from being accemplished. It was more successful in the case of Mistley Towers,
Essex, which was offered to the Ministry in 1952 and came into guardianship after being
repaired by the Georgian Group, with Raymond Enth acting as their architect.
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An innovation in this period with which Bryan O'Neil can be credited was the Ministry's
acceptance in guardianship of a series of monuments in a single area that illustrated the
history of that area over a span of more than 3000 vears. In 1950, seven monuments on
the Isles of Scilly, which between them represented life on the islands from 1600BC to

| 600AD, were transferred as a group from the Duchy of Comwall to the Ministry of
Works. (Similar exercises were undertaken with monuments on Arran and Carthness in
Scotland at around the same time.) Hitherto there had been no guardianship sites on the
Isles of Scilly, despite intermittent attempts to take some over. Reviewing the record of
the Ministry in this area O'Neil commented that the file made ‘doleful reading and would
delight the hearts of newspaper writers, who love to deal in the procrastination of

Government’. He made a four-day inspection of the menuments of the islands in April
1947, becoming the first member of the Inspectorate to visit since 1908. On his retum he
sought permission to negotiate for the transfer of six monuments. The Duchy readily
agreed and even offered one additional monument.

Fig 16: Bury 5t Edmunds Abbey in 1552 .. .in the woods, where once was a famous abbey.
Reproduced by permission of Frghish Hertage

In a few cases monuments were accepted despite not being rated very highly by the
Inspectorate. When he heard that Creake Abbey had been accepted, O'Neil wrote,
regret very much that AS 22 have decided directly against our advice to accept this
monument. There are many others more worthy of the small efforts we can now make.
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Similarly, Bury St Edmunds Abbey was a2 monument ‘for which | cannot raise much
enthusiasm, yet it is one which we could hardly refuse, if offered.’ (fig 16). He was no
more impressed when he visited three years later, in 1952: TI] wandered in the woods,
where once was a famous abbey. It is a wreck VWhat a pity we have been pushed into
taking it over. Of course we can make a show of it, but the money would be better spent
elsewhere.” In the case of Ludgershall Village Cross, O'Neil simply commented,
presumably with a future site visit in mind, I have no observations except to express
pleasure at seeing that the cross is so close to a Public House!

One thing which everyone in the Ministry was keen to avoid was to taking on
respensibility for a ‘white elephant’, that is a building rather than a ruin, which is capable of
use but for which no user can be found. In the normal course of their work this was not a
concem since most monuments were ruined or at least rocfless and clearly could not be
expected to have a use. Occasionally, however, roofed buildings were offered to the
Ministry and in these cases, the potential for use had to be considered and weighed
against the archaeological and architectural impoertance of the building.

Attempts were made to find a use even for such unpromising structures as the Blakeney
Guildhzll, which consisted of a single dark and damp vaulted chamber, the undercroft of a
medieval merchants house, and the Berney Arms Windmill; it was in due course realised
that the idea of using the ‘Guildhall’ as a library was impractical while the Fire Inspector
would not approve use of the windmill as a youth hostel. Fitzhams House in Abingden
(fig |'7) was transferred to the Ministry of Werks from the Ministry of Supply in 1948, sc
that it could be preserved while a use was scught. A custedian was even installed to deter
vandals. Once it was concluded that ne use was likely, however, the house, which was not
considered to be of cutstanding interest, was demolished. 't would later, after the 1953
Act, be more commen for the Ministry to acquire, repair and pass cn a building capable
of use, with the costs charged to the National Land Fund, but in this pericd, within the
constraints of the Ancient Monuments budget, it was not feasible.
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Fig 17 Fitzharris House Abingdorn, Oxtordshire, in 1250 Reproduced by permission of English
Hermtage

Lydcdington Bedehouse, which had been part of a medieval palace and then an almshouse,
was accepted into guardianship for presentation as an ancient monument despite being a
complete building, When the Ministry later received a suggestion that the building be
tenanted, it was stated that if in fact the Bedehouse had been capable of re-use as a
dwelling house after it had been repaired, we would nct have taken it into guardianship.”
In this case the modemisation necessary for occupation was considered too damaging to
the building’s archaeological and architectural importance. In the case of Denny Abbey,
Cambridgeshire, the remains of a Benedictine abbey were encased in a later farmhouse
which was partially occupied at the time that the offer of guardianship was made. Since, in
the opinion of the Ministry, ‘the ideal treatment of the remains of the Abbey requires the
removal of the post-medieval portions of the house', the building would have to be
rendered uninhabitable. Chiswick House can be cited as another example of a house
capable of use, which was instead considered worthy of display as a museum piece,
because of its important place in architectural history.

Audley End House and Wrest Park were both acquired as by-products of the Ministry of
Works' role in providing accommodation for govemment departments and other public
bodies, and 1t is very doubtful that either would have been bought simply as showplaces.
Wrest Park in Bedfordshire had been empty for several years before it was purchased in
1939 by the Sun Insurance Company which wanted to move its headquarters out of
London for the duration of the war. In 1944 the Ministry of Works was asked to find
accommeodation within reach of both London and Cambridge, with substantial acreage,
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for the National Institute of Agricultural Engineering (NIAE), a body which developed and
tested agncultural machinery under the aegis of the Ministry of Agniculture. The Ministry
of Works had nothing suitable on its hands at the time, but the Director of the NIAE,
Lord Radner, suggested Wrest Park. Although the mansicn house itself was larger than
was needed, the land around it was ideal for the Institute’s purposes, in terms of its soil
types and topography. Once the Sun Insurance Company had confirmed that the house
would be available, the Ministry was instructed to negotiate the purchase on behalf of the
Ministry of Agriculture, which at that time had no powers to buy buildings.

The purchase of Wrest was put in the hands of the Estates Surveyors in Cambridge. After
an initial site visit in June 1945 it was reported that the house was in very good condition
and neither initial repair nor future maintenance would be particularly costly. The historic
nature of the house was clearly of secondary importance to the Surveyor, compared to
the basic structural facts: The Mansion was erected between [834/36 and is of stone
construction with slate mansard rocf; small lead and asphalt flats surmount the mansard.
Joinery is in oak and mahogany. Decorations are in fair condition and some are omate.’”
He was slightly more appreciative of the gardens: ‘The grounds were apparently laid on
the lines of a Palace at Versaille [sic] by the famous “Capability” Brown and contain much
statuary in lead and stone, as well as a small crangery and pavilion. The Park is noted for
its valuable timber.!

In July 1945 AS22 (ancient monuments administration) was notified of the proposals and
asked for its observations. Although those cbservaticns are not on file, they were clearly
to the effect that the gardens were worthy of preservation for on 28 july 1945 F C |
Howard, in a letter to the Ministry of Agriculture, referred tc them as ‘probably cne of
the finest gardens in England'. In August, George Chettle {Inspector of Ancient
Monuments) attended a site meeting at Wrest, the minutes of which record,

‘Mr Chettle, representing the Chief Inspector of Ancient Monuments said that he
was not interested in the Mansion, but he was interested in the preservation of
the ornamental pleasure grounds which as at present designed were the work of
"Capability” Brown and were, it was believed, the only remaining example of the
kind. The upkeep of the ornamental greunds could be limited to the maintenance
of lands and sanded carriage drives.' ™

By 1946 the sale was being negotiated and it was reported to the Treasury that:

‘We [the Ministry of Works] are making arrangements for the maintenance of the
gardens, which are extremely fine (designed by Le Notre, landscape architect of
Versailles, and altered by “Capability” Brown), but are in a somewhat neglected
state. We propose to take whatever steps may be necessary to prevent them
deteriorating further, and have hopes that the NLLAE. L. will tzake them over from
us. The grounds are also full of statuary and garden architecture of high ment;
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indeed, ranking as ancient monuments. These also are somewhat dilapidated, and
it is incumbent on us to preserve them.'”

When the purchase was made in November |946 the exact lines of responsibility and the
status of the gardens were still uncertain and this inevitably led to conflict. In 1948 the
NIAE moved in and started to carry out work to the property, such as felling trees and
making a new road, without informing the Ministry of Works. They also stored manure in
the Banqueting Hall and repaired heavy machinery in the Orangery. Relations between
the Institute and the Ministry became acrimonious and the Ministry of Agriculture, which
had been granted new powers to hold property, pressed to be able to take over the

freehold.

The Ministry of Works was determined that, since Wrest was ‘an historic building or
ancient monuments [sic] with which we must concern curselves', it must retain the
freehold.”” In May 1950 it was decided by the Treasury that the Ministry of Works should
retain the preperty and grant a lease to the Institute. The lease {completed on | October
1953, for a term of 99 years beginning on | October 1949) conveyed the land, mansicn
house and other buildings and fixtures to the NIAE, except for the Pavilion, Banqueting
Hall, Grotte, Crangery and several other garden buildings and statues (fig 18). The
gardens, including paths, walls, hedges, fences and watercourse were to be maintained by
the Institute, which would need tc cbtain written consent for any alteration of the layout
or design of the ornamental gardens or trees. The Institute was alsc required by the lease
to open the gardens to the general public, under the supervision of the Ministry, from
2pm till dusk on all Saturdays, Sundays and Bank Holidays from March until October
inclusive.

© ENGLISH HERITAGE 51 36-2014



Fig 18: Statue of Fandora in the gardens at Wirest Fark, Bedfordshire, 1549, \Whereas the gardens
and their statues and buildings were considerad important, the frouse (in the background) was
not. @ Crown Copyright. EH

Work on the historic features in the garden began in [949, focussing inftially on the
Pavilion, Banqueting Hall and Orangery. Meanwhile the Institute did a great deal of work
on the garden itself, which in 1961 was reported to have been ‘completely transformed
from its initial shambles and restored to something approximating to its original form.”
Attempts were made in the [980s and 1990s to undertake a more thorough historical
restoration of the gardens but each time the results fell short of initial expedations. In
2006 the Silsoe Institute closed and English Herrtage assumed management of the whole
property, allowing the house, which in the 1940s had been thought to have Iittle historic
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interest, to be shown to the public, while ancther ambitious resteration project for the
gardens was begun.

Taking an ancient monument into the ownership cr guardianship of the Minister of Works
was the most expensive way for the state to protect it and the largest constraint on new
acquisitions was financial. Some monuments which the Ministry was not entirely happy
about taking over had to be repaired before they would be accepted. The owner of
Abbotsbury Abbey, Lord lichester, had to repair it before handing over to the Ministry so
that it would not be a drain on resources that were desperately needed for more
important monuments. The repairs were duly carried out and the monument came into
guardianship in 1948. In contrast Morley Park Ironworks did not ccme intc guardianship
because its prospective local saviours were not prepared to carry out the repairs to the
Ministry's standards and could not afford the high cost of so doing. It was a sign of what
was to come later in the 1950s, when in 1953 Beeston Castle was accepted for
guardianship in principle, on the condition that the significant sum of £15,000 (out of the
estimated cost of repairs of £35,000) was raised locally.

HM Treasury had the power to keep close control of expenditure on ancient
monuments. The purchase of any monument under the Ancient Mcenuments Acts
required Treasury approval. Since the 1930s its approval had also been needed before
the Ministry accepted a guardianship monument which would cost more than £10,000 to
repair, or would require more than £2,000 of expenditure in any one year. By the early
|950s those figures had been rendered cut-of-date by rises in building costs and at a
meeting in July 1951 it was agreed that the Treasury would be consulted where initial
repair of a guardianship monument would cost more than £30,000. Any grants or work
done on menuments which were not under the control of the Ministry also needed
specific autherisation from the Treasury.

Although the department’s budget nearly trebled from 1945 to 1954 — from £1 19,500 to
£348,250 (see table 1) — this was not enough to catch up with the increase in its liabilities,
as it continued to teke on more monuments. Outstanding commitments in England and
Wales were estimated in October 1950 at £2.3m. Despite a further increase in the
budget, that had grown to £2.7m by March 1953, To have such an increase in
expenditure on ancient menuments against the gloomy economic background of
‘Austerity Britain' (and particularly after the cuts of 1950-51 which resulted from the
doubling of defence spending in a matter of months) was remarkable. Yet in about 1951
a tipping point seems te have been reached, after which the ancient menuments budget
was more often overspent than not.
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Table | Money voted by Farlament for the Ancient Monuments subhead of the
Mirustry of Works budget and expenditure, |945-1954

Year Vote £ Expenditure £
1945 119,500

|946-47 142,500 81,096
|947-48 165,630 155,106
1948-49 173,155 156,721
1949-50 210450 232,152
1950-51 225000 207,183
1951-52 300,000 316,603
1952-53 315000 321,298
1953-54 348,250 355,737

Sources: National Archives T 218/311 and T 165/326

The Ministry of Works as a2 whole had a peor reputation with the Treasury because of its
inability to manage its budget, but there was also a cultural divide between the officials of
the Ministry and the Treasury. [n 1947, Dr Raby wrote to wam Dorothy Johnstone of the
Treasury that it was likely Chiswick House would be acquired by the Ministry and they
would need to spend between £80,000 and £100,000 on it. Mrs Johnstone — who would
be the principal Treasury official dealing with the Ministry throughout this period — wrote
an extracrdinary memorandum tc a cclleague which expressed her personal views on the
matter, but alsc touched cn the extreme financial difficulties with which the government
had to deal. She conceded that among ‘educated people’ there was a sentimental
attachment to cld buildings.

This is all very well in normal times, but we are not likely tc live in ‘normal times'
for many years to come. It is possible that very soon our first question on having a
proposal to spend any money put up to us will be that favourite question of the
B.B.C's 20 Questicns game “Can you eat it?", or, reduced to official jargon, “will it
assist our efforts to alleviate our present economic difficulties!”

‘Now Raby would deubtless forege his dinner for a week or twoe to
preserve an obscure tumble-down | 7th century hovel but, without wishing tc
seem a Philisting, it seems to me better that my grandchildren should enjoy a
reasonable standard of life and see pictures of old buildings than that they should
creep about underncurished, ill-clad and ill-housed scarcely able to appreciate the
menuments we have so dutifully left for them.”

She had the grace to admit this was extremist and exaggerated, but nevertheless added

that ‘we must not let Raby bite and infect us’. Mconey was found for Chiswick, but Mrs
Johnstone was able later to put a stop te the Ministry's plans for taking on redundant

© ENGLISH HERITAGE 54 36-2014



churches, for the sake of £30,000 for initial repairs to 60 buildings and an ongoing
expenditure of £30,000 for their maintenance and custody.

Just two menths before the new delegation limit for guardianship cases was agreed with
the Treasury (in July 1951), another important change was made in the Ministry's own
intemal processes. Some heavy liabllities had been taken on during the 1940s (notably
Chiswick House and Audley End) and with the Department's outstanding commitments
growing inexcrably the politicians were no longer prepared to give their officials such a
free rein. It was the case of Appuldurcombe House that triggered a change in procedure.
As an afternative to demolishing the ruined mansion (fig 19), which was neither listed nor
scheduled, the owner had agreed to offer guardianship to the Ministry of Works. Officials
were minded to accept, but the conditions under which the offer was made — that there
should be no parking spaces for coaches and no tea rcom on site — reduced the value of
the site as a tourist attraction and therefore the ability of the monument to pay its way.
There was also concem about whether considerable amounts of money {£18,000 for
consclidation of the house alone) should be devoted to preserving ruined houses when
there were so many important, intact country houses which needed help.

Fg 19 Appuldurcombe House, Godshill Isle of VVight, /247 Reproduced by permissicn of
English Heritage
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in April 1951 Lord Morrison, the Parliamentary Secretary of the Ministry, told the
Permanent Secretary that he thought a very poor bargain had been struck over
Appuldurcombe which would involve considerable expenditure in the future. He decided
not to prevent the acceptance of guardianship since the Ministry was effectively
committed to it, but asked that in future he was informed of propoesals before a definite
commitment was made. In May 1951 it became the policy of the department that in
future the Parliamentary Secretary would be informed before any guardianship
commitments were made. The consequences were felt almost straight away when, in
August 1951, Lord Morrisen intervened to stop the acceptance of Merley Park Ironworks,
which the Chief Inspector had been passicnate about saving.
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TREATMENT OF MONUMENTS

The 1931 Ancient Menuments Act conferred on the Minister bread powers over the
monuments of which he was guardian. Under secticn 3{1) of the Act he could ‘do all such
things as may be necessary for the maintenance of the monument and for the exercise of
proper control and management with respect thereto'. In the mid-20th century, the
normal state of any ancient menument not in the care of the Ministry appears to have
been overgrown, ivy clad and crumbling, more a feature of the landscape than an
intelligible artefact in its own night.

The first task of the Ancient Monuments Department was therefore to consolidate the
fabric of such a monument, clearing vegetation and removing fallen debris. They then
endeavoured to make it intelligible to visitors, on the ground and in guidebocoks, which
could involve excavation and, more controversially, the removal and destruction of more
recent layers of a monument's history. Althcugh O'Neil claimed in 1952 that the
Department heard ‘no criticism of our proceedings except occasionally from dilettant,
who worship ruins’, there was in fact a good deal of opposition to their work in several
cases.

The Dunster Yam Market, Somerset, was a more conspicucus monument than most,
standing as it did in the main street of a West Country town popular with summer
tourists. The work done by the Ministry after they took it over from the Crown Estate in
1951 was therefore carried out in full view of local cnitics. What the Ministry's men found
when they started work was a building which had been altered in a lot of small ways frem
its criginal form and wore a pleasing (to socme) air of antiquity (fig 20). On inspection, the
condition of the building was judged tc be much worse than originally thought and a
thorough pregramme of restoration was begun.

The Ministry was accused of destroying the character of the market by smashing the old
stone slates, removing every trace of lichen on the roof, allowing ‘modern’ glass to remain
in the windows and changing the shape of the roof valleys {fig 21). The Ministry defended
itself on every peint but its defence reveals a pragmatic approach rather than rigid
adherence to a set of principles. Investigation of the fabric revealed that the roof valleys
had originally been angled and that the swept valleys
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Fg 20 Dunster Yarn Market Somerset, in 1938, before treatment by the Ministry of Works.
Reproduced by permission of Fnglish Heritage

Fig 21 Dunster Yamn Market in 1953 after the Ministry had finished work on the monument.
Reproduced by permission of Fnglish Heritage
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with which the locals were familiar were the product of later attempts to stop the valleys
leaking. The architect in charge, | A Wright stated that ‘we have adhered in accordance
with cur policy te the original form of construction” and therefore the roof was remade
with angled valleys. By contrast, the windows had apparently been glazed for the first time
abeut 60 vears before, but because the glass was considered not unsightly and performed
the useful function of keeping the weather cff the timber structure inside, the Ministry
decided to keep it, even though it was not onginal.

Hadrian's Wall was the subject of an cngoing dispute between the Ministry and the
National Trust. The focus in this pericd was Housesteads Fort, which the National Trust
had first indicated they would like to place in guardianship in 1943. The Ministry did not
press for guardianship as it was overloaded with more urgent work, while scme in the
Trust were against letting the Ministry take over. As G M Trevelyan, a powerful figure
within the Trust, wrote to Professor Eric Birley in [948:

The fact is that there is a general feeling on the Estates Committee of aesthetic
cbjecticn te the methods of the Office of Werks dealing with Roman remains.
Rightly or wrongly they feel that the ruins at Corstopitum, for instance, look very
bleak and "like a cemetery” as one person said, and they prefer the look of
Housesteads and the adjacent bit of Wall with a certain amount of grass and
weeds at the edges.”

There had been differing views on how best tc preserve the Wall ever since the first
piece, at Corbridge, was taken into guardianship in 1933. The Naticnal Trust preferred
the dry-stone wall and turf-capping method, which had been used since the |9th century
on exposed parts of the Wall. This had the drawback of not withstanding the weather
very well, so the parts of the wall treated in this way were more susceptible to rain and
frost. They also suffered mere from steck damage and frem pecple walking on the top of
the wall.

The Ministry considered cement capping and lime peinting more appropriate to a naticnal
monument which they wish to preserve for as long as possible. This was a standard
method which they used on monuments of vanous kinds to prevent dampness
penetrating to the wall ccre. The highest courses of face work were often loose and out
of line, so they were taken down and rebuilt, having first been numbered so they could be
returned to their criginal position. To its detractors, the Ministry's practice of dismantling
sections of masonry and rebuilding them {in a more secure fashion) was creating a fake
Roman wall, without any feeling of antiquity about it. O'Neil defended the Ministry's
methods, observing that ‘... all men who are reasonable consider that, if one has to
choose between stability and appearance, cne chooses stability. Gtherwise cne might as
well repeal the Ancient Monuments Acts.
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At a meeting on site in March 1949, G'Neil reportedly described the National Trust view
as ‘reactionary’ and strengly denied that the Ministry of Works approach could be called
‘restoration’. One of the National Trust representatives at the meeting recorded that,

Mr O'Nelll [sic] seemed concemed only to protect the reputation of the Ministry
of Works and to get Housesteads under its guardianship. He did not hesitate to
use the threat of compulsory acquisition if our [National Trust] methods did not
meet with the Ministry's approval. The committee are asked to decide whether to
preserve the atmosphere at Housesteads — or take the drastic and irretrievable
step of handing it over to the Ministry of Works and having it reduced to the
same soulless level as the rest of the Wall which is under their tidy guardianship.”

Later in 1949 the argument spilled over on to the letters pages of 7he 7imes but a
compromise was eventually reached: the turf-capping would be allowed to stay on the
Well itself, but the Ministry would have a free hand with the Fort walls and buildings.

The Ministry of Werks and the SPAB took different, but equally well-established
appreaches te the treatment of historic fabric. Andrew Saunders later claimed that the
Ministry's treatment of menuments was based on ‘a philoscphy which belongs to the
teachings of William Mornis but is expressed as a modification of the Morns doctrine that
it was enough ‘to prop a perilous wall or mend a lezky roof by such means as are
obviously meant for support or covering and te show no pretence of other art'"”” It is
questicnable whether the Ministry's approach would be better described as a modification
or a contradiction and the tension between the two approaches can be seen in a number
of cases from this period.

When the Ministry accepted guardianship of Old Soar Mancr in Kent from the Naticnal
Trust it planned, in accordance with normal practice, to remeve later work to reveal the
monument as they conceived it, which consisted of the remains of a manor house of ¢
1290 (figs 22 and 23). The most transformative aspect of this work was to recreate some
of the windows which had been wholly or partially blocked up. When werk was already
on site, the Naticnal Trust asked to see the detailed drawings for the proposal. They in
turn passed the drawings on tc the SPAB for comment. The SPAB reportedly thought it
unfortunate that so much new stonework was being contemplated and recommended
adopting ‘the true medieval practice of forming the tracery’.

On hearing of this Mr Baillie Reynolds commented leftily, ‘| am not influenced by the
views of the SPAB." The Ministry's line was that it was only introducing new stonework
where stonework te the original design was so badly damaged that it needed to be
renewed. A meeting was held on site and in the event the visiting SPAB representatives
‘had nothing but praise for all we had done'. The question of whether it was right to
restore lost elements of the monument does not seem to have been a source of any
disagreement in this case.
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Not all differences between the methods of the SPAB and the Ministry could be so easily
resolved. The Ministry's dislike of SPAB methods was deep-rooted. A building licence was
denied to the owner of Rycote Chapel in 1946 (prior to its transfer to the Ministry)
because his architect, H S Goodhart-Rendel, proposed the use of tile repair (a method
advocated by the SPAB) on the external elevations. When Tutbury Castle was
considered for guardianship in 1951, the Ministry's architect reported that, although there
were only £2,000 to £2,500 worth of urgent repairs, a further £15,000 to £17,500 of
work was needed to undo earlier repairs which showed every sign of having been camied
out under the direction of the SPAB. They were, said the architect, ‘offensive to our
standards’. In the event the castle was not transferred to the Ministry's care, but the fact
that it was considered worth spending such a sum on the undoing of SPAB worlk shows
the extent of the Ministry's disapproval. It was a similar attitude that delayed the
acceptance of Wolvesey Castle into guardianship for nine years. The ruins had been
restored by W D Carde for the Ecclesiastical Commissioners in the |920s, but the work
was done ‘in the worst SPAB. manner.” In 1949 the Inspectorate argued strongly that it
would be an embarrassmernit to the Ministry to allow the public to
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g 22: Old Soar Marniorn, Kent, 1946, before treatment by the Ministry of Works. Reproduced by
permission of English Herrtage
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Fig 23 Oid Soar Manor inn (952, after the Minvstry had finished re-medievalising the monument,
Reproduced by permission of English Heritage

visit a monument in its charge which had been treated in a way that was contrary to all
their standards and practices.

The differences between the Ministry and the SPAB have echoes of those between the
SPAB and the church restorers of the |9th century. While claiming to operate a ‘treat as
found’ policy which echoed the SPAB manifesto, the Ministry was notoriously keen to
destroy what it saw as modern accretions on valuable monuments, rather like the
Georgian chancels, box pews and gallenies that Victorian architects removed from
medieval churches. Treating or at least presenting ‘as found' was fairly easily accomplished
with fragmentary ruins of principally archacological interest, but the more complete the
monument and the more its interest was architectural, the harder it was to adhere to the
principle. Where monuments were in very poor condition — as they often were — some
element of restoration was needed. Yet without the Ministry's intervention these
monuments may have been lost entirely, as many medieval churches in the |9th century
would have been without the care of the restorers.

The Ministry was prepared to make significant changes in order to create a monument
out of the fabric it was given. At Duxord Chapel, for instance, the roof had collapsed and
needed rebuilding (fig 24). The most recent covering of the roof had been thatch, but the
Ministry replaced it with tiles (fig 25). The bam doors which had been inserted in the
south wall of the chapel and which told of its former agricultural use were removed and
replaced with masonry matching the surviving wall. This in no way meets the stated aim of
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O'Neil to ‘treat monuments in such a way that, when we have finished, they look just as
they did when we received them but secure and clear.™

The major example of the Ministry ‘creating’ a monument in this period is Chiswick
House in Middlesex. The great Palladian villa of Lord Burlington had been sold to
Middlesex County Council in 1929, but neither they nor Chiswick and Brentford Borough
Council to whom it was leased were able to maintain it (see fig 26). In 1938 they were
looking to dispose of the house, but the war prevented any resolution to the negotiations
that had started. In 1947 the architect Claud Phillimore described the scene at Chiswick
evocatively:

Hg 2. A survey drawing of Duxiord Chapel showing its state before the IMinistry started work on
restoring it. Reproduced by permission of English Heritage
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Fig 25: Duxdord Chape!l during restoration, 1953 the former roof covering of thaich is being
replaced with tiles. Reproduced by permission of English Hertage

The house is battered by bombs and corroded by dry-rot and disuse. The temples
are crumbling, the statues decayed, while the walks and groves which they once
graced and emphasised degenerate daily.™

Phillimore, however, had a plan, which he promoted energetically to anyone who had an
interest in the future of the house, including the Ministry of Works. The plan was to
remove the substantial wings which had been added by Wyatt, in order to reduce the
house to more manageable proportions and to restore it to its original state as designed
by Lord Burlington. It was felt that the importance of the orniginal building could justify
such a move, and since the villa was so well-documented, it could be recreated where
necessary, without resorting to conjecture.
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fig 26; The east front of Chiswick House, Middlesex, in 1947, Reproduced by permission of
Fnglish Hertage

Phillimore compared the situation to that of the Queen's House at Greenwich, the
restoration of which he believed nc one could regret and which 'was achieved only by
the ruthless removal of moder addtions.™'

The Phillimeore plan was supported by the GGeorgian Group, but opposed by the London
County Council, the SPAB and the Royal Fine Art Commission. There were practical
arguments about the usefulness of the rooms within the wings and their state of repair as
well as the more abstract questions of whether the Wyatt wings had architectural and
historical value in themselves and how important it was to preserve them as part of the
building's historical development. The Ministry of Works, which was offered the house as
a gift on 9 July 194/, came down in favour of a slightly modified version of the Phillimore
plan, which involved reverting to the form of the house before Wyatt's additions, rather
than going right back to the original design.

They recognised the principle of retaining all the layers of a building's history, but believed
that Chiswick was an exceptional case, Since It was 1o be treated as a museum piece, one
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of the finest achievements of English architecture, it could not also be presented as a
document of changing taste. George Chettle, the Inspector responsible for historic
buildings in London who had carried out the recent restoration of the Queen's House,
Greenwich, waxed lyrical about the possibilities for a restored Chiswick:

Burington’s villa, restored, would be as perfect a gem of architectural beauty as
Inigo Jones's miniature palace at Greenwich and could have its own perfect setting,
which the Queen's House has lost. Its only rival would be the Petit Trianon at
Versailles®

Demolition began before the transfer of the property had been completed (fig 27).
lronically in the late 1970s a new extension to the house was being contemplated, to
provide visitor and staff facilities, for which there was no space in the reduced Villa.

4 ﬂi 3

Fg 27 Demolition of the Wiatt wings at Chiswick House in progress, October 1950, Reproduced
by perrission of English Hertage

A contrasting challenge faced the Ministry at Audley End House, where the intended use
by the Ministry of Education entalled the construction of an additional building in the
grounds of the historic mansion. New building in a historic context was not an issue in
which the Ancient Monuments Department was generally involved, but in this case they
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had strong views for, as the architect Aubrey Bailey commented, the new building would
be ‘held as an example of what or what not to do so near to an important ancient
menument.® At the beginning of 1950 the requirements of the Ministry of Fducaticn
were placed in the hands of Cyril G Pinfold, a ‘New Works Architect’ in the Cambridge
office of the Ministry of Works. Pinfold's preliminary scheme was for a two-storey, t-
shaped building adjacent to the north-east comer of the historic house. He suggested that
‘the building be designed with a high pitched rocf in plain tiles, walls and gables faced with
2" red facing bricks with stone dressings. Windows would be ‘of the mullioned type in
red bricks' and the whole was to be ‘generally in keeping with the early |7th century brick
tradition.* In a typically robust response, Bryan O'Neil described the propesal as ‘almost
unbelievable' and only acceptable ‘if an iron curtain were to be hung between it and the
mansion.” He went on to criticise both the position - within the historic garden and right
next to the house - and the choice of matenals, which would be incongrucus next to the
ashlar-faced facades of the historic house. He concluded by saying: ‘| am not for imitating
the old, but | am against incongruity.® Happily the hall of residence was never built
because the Treasury would not approve the necessary expenditure and the Ministry's
ability to build appropriately in a historic context was not put to the test.

Another criticism of the Ministry's treatment of monuments was the slow pace of their
work. Their normal practice was to spread the available funds over the largest number of
monuments so that each year the majority of menuments that were still in need of work
were allocated some money. The result was that it took could take several years for work
on a newly-acquired monument to be completed, and until it had been the public would
not be admitted. Bishop's Waltham Palace, a large monument with major repair needs,
came intc guardianship in 1952 but did not cpen to the public until 1964. The Cow
Tower in Norwich, which was a much smaller menument but required sheet piling
around it te stop in falling into the River Yare, also opened |2 years after coming into
guardianship. Even a relatively small monument with more modest repair needs, such as
Creake Abbey in Norfclk, would take over ten years to excavate and consolidate. Using
contract labour would have been quicker, but the Ministry preferred to use its own
workforce, trained up to its own standards. ‘'We may be slow," wrote G'Neil, ‘but that is
because such work cannot be hurried' and it was more important to maintain standards.™

There is no doubt that the Ministry did set themselves very high standards and with the
criticism there was also praise. Despite nearly falling out at cne stage over the work at
Old Soar Mancr, Robin Fedden later wrote after a visit there that the building ‘has been
admirably restored, and | should like to congratulate you." In the same year, 1952, Jack
Rathbone, Secretary of the National Trust visited Hailes Abbey for the first time and
wrote afterwards to say that ‘it really is a tremendous credit to your department and | felt
| really ought to let you know how delighted | was with everything | saw there.” A local
Dunster man wrote to the Superintendent of Works for the repair of the Yam Market
that he thought the way it had been restored was excellent and that many people in the
town felt ‘great satisfaction and appreciation’ for the Ministry's werk there.
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THE GOWERS REPORT AND THE 1953 ACT

The work of the Ancient Monuments Department in this period was conducted in the
shadow of emerging legislation which was eventually enacted as the Historic Buildings and
Ancient Monuments Act 1953, Frem 1948 until 1953, the Department was both hopeful
and uncertain about the impact it might have con their work. The stimulus for the new
legislation was the plight of country house cwners, struggling to maintain their historic
possessions, which were generally recognised tc be an enormceusly important part of the
national heritage. After a meeting at the Treasury in May 1948, Sir Eric de Normann
reperted that ‘the Chancellor of the Exchequer [Sir Stafford Cripps] was sympathetic to
suggestions that houses of architectural and historic interest, which are threatened, should
be preserved.”” A source of funding had already been identified in the form of the
National Land Fund, which had been created in 1946 by Chanceller Hugh Dalton to buy
for the nation areas of unspoilt countryside and ccastline but which had hardly been
touched in the intervening years.

The National Land Fund

The origins of the National Land Fund lay in Chancellor Hugh Dalten's attack on un-
eamed wealth in his post-war budgets. He revived a provision in Lloyd George's 1910
Finance Act which permitted the handing over of land to public ownership in payment of
death duties. In a note to his Permanent Secretary Sir Edward Bridges at the end of 1945,
Dalton sketched out a scheme whereby proceeds from the sale of surplus war stores
would be put into a special fund, to be spent ‘cn real estate only, e.g. in providing
National Parks; in aiding Naticnal Trust; in making good Death Duty revenue when
payment of this is in land.® He later told the Earl of Crawford, Chairman of the National
Trust, that he regarded the Trust as a typically British ‘example of Practical Socialism in
action’. As such ‘a Labour Government should give it every encouragement greatly to
extend its activities.” Dalton's socialism had been formed by his membership of the
Fabian Society, in which he took an active part after jcining at the end of his first term at
Cambridge in 1906 . His early reputaticn as a political thinker was based on his bock
Some Aspects of the Inequality of Incomes in Modermn Communyties, published in 1920.
Fabianism had come to seem sentimental and impractical by the 1930s and Dalton
reinvented it as ‘Practical Scaalism’, of which the Land Fund was an example.

Dalten envisaged that the fund should be a memoerial to those killed in the war. He told
the House of Commons that it was ‘surely fitting in this prcud mement of our history,
when we are celebrating victory and deliverance from overwhelming evils and horrors,
that we should make through this fund a thank-cffering for victery, and a war memearial
which many would think finer than any work of art in stone or bronze.”® Those last words
reinforce the general emphasis in Dalten's visicn on the landscape and places of natural
beauty. (Dalton had a passion for walking and was later President of the Ramblers
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Association.) Although the National Trust was in his mind from the start, this was related
more to its role as a landowner than its relatively recent incarnation as the owner of
country houses. Prior to the 1953 Act the Fund was used to reimburse the Inland
Revenue when property was accepted by the government in lieu of estate duty. Mount
Grace Priory in Yorkshire was accepted and transferred to the National Trust on this
basis, as was part of the Osterley Park estate. The scope of the Fund was broadened in
1953 to cover chattels and in 1956 to cover works of art. By the late 1950s the Fund had
nevertheless grown to £53millicn and after a crtical report from the Public Accounts
Committee, the Chancellor Peter Thomeycroft reduced its capital to just £10million. In
the words of Hugh Dalten, this was a ‘drab gesture, discouraging good deeds’ and it led
ultimately to the abolition of the Fund. ”'

The Gowers Report

Dalton was replaced as Chancellor in November |947 by Sir Stafford Cripps, whe very
socn became involved in the issue of preserving country houses. As early as January 1948
the Ministry of Works was being asked to provide him with a list of important houses and
after a meeting at the Treasury in May

Sir Eric de Normann reported that the Chancellor was ‘anxicus to be informed of
principles on which an agreed policy [on preservation of historic houses] could be built
up'” Cripps wished to obtain independent advice (perhaps wary of the vested interests
of the Ministry of Works) sc he appointed a committee under the chairmanship of Sir
Emest Gowers, a retired civil servant, to look inte the matter. Established in December
1948, the committee's appointed task was ‘to consider and report what general
arrangements might be made by the Government for the preservation, maintenance and
use of houses of cutstanding historic or architectural interest which might otherwise not
be preserved, including, where desirable, the preservation of a house and its contents as a
unity.”?

The Gowers Committee heard evidence from several country house owners and a range
of organisations including the amenity societies, the National Trust, the Ministry of Works
and the Ministry of Town and Country Planning. At this time the Ministry of Works held
no country houses in the national collection, but it was on the point of purchasing Audley
End and the decision was taken that it should make a case for expansion of its work in
this field, at the expense of the Naticnal Trust. The officials of the Ministry felt that the
Trust was ill-qualified and under-funded for the work of looking after historic buildings.
They envisaged amendments to the Ancient Monuments Acts to give the Minister of
Works the same powers over inhabited houses as he already had over ancient
monuments, including the ability to accept guardianship. Under such arrangements owners
of larger country houses could be relieved of the whoele cost of maintenance by agreeing
to guardianship while smaller houses could be helped with grants or expert advice. In an
internal meeting in the Ministry of Works, on 7 March 1949, it was agreed that ‘we should
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claim all historic houses as our domain, leaving to the Naticnal Trust places of natural
beauty.' **

The Gowers Report was published in June 1950 It strongly asserted the claim that
houses of outstanding importance were best preserved as private houses, occupied by
the families connected with them. This, it was argued, should be facilitated by generous
tax arrangements in return for public access. Owners (including the National Trust and
local authorities) would also be able to benefit from grants or loans provided by new
independent statutory boedies called Historic Building Councils (of which there would be
cne for England and Wales and another for Scotland). There was no suppoert for the
ambiticns of the Ministry of Works te add country houses to the national collection, or to
extend its existing powers to include inhabited buildings. New powers of acquisition
would instead be given to the Historic Buildings Councils, albeit with the aim of repairing
houses and passing them on to new owners, rather than creating a parallel national
collection.

By the time the government finally respended to the Gowers Repert - after ancther
change of Chanceller, Hugh Gaitskell having succeeded Cripps in October 1950 - it had
decided that there was almost nothing in it that could be accepted unaltered. The
Treasury immediately rejected both the tax proposals and the idea of historic building
councils with executive powers, thus fundamentally undermining the whole Gowers
scheme. An alternative policy concocted in the Treasury replaced executive councils with
advisory bodies reporting to the Minister of Works, who would provide the funding and
whose staff would support the ccuncils” activities. Crucially for the future of the national
collection, it was decided that 'hcuses remaining in the cccupaticn of owners should
continue to be dealt with by the National Trust, whe would receive financial assistance
from the Ministry of Works,”® The decision to favour the National Trust showed the
continuing influence of Hugh Dalton (at that time Minister of Town and Country
Planning) and his wife Ruth. Both wrote te Gaitskell with their ideas after the Gowers
Report had been published and he admitted to his Cabinet colleague in April 1951 that
the new policy owed much to their suggestions.”

New Legislation

Despite the rejection of its detailed recommendations the Gowers Report nevertheless
acted as a catalyst for new legislation, which the Minister of Works was asked to prepare,
along lines proposed by the Chancellor and agreed by the Cabinet in April 19517
Although it took the government's response to the Gowers Report as its starting point,
the Ministry's draft Bill was an ambitious and far-reaching set of proposals which sought to
solve more than just the problem of country houses. The introduction to one draft of the
instructions to Parliamentary Counsel stated that the legislation would reduce to a single
ccede the law embodied in both the Ancient Monuments Acts and sections 29 and 30 of

the Town and Country Planning Act 1947, In other words the legal distinctions between
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ancient monuments and histeric buildings would be abolished. ‘Neither consolidation nor
amendment is proposed. It is intended to deal with the whole subject afresh.’”

The draft Bill of 7 July 1951 embodied the Cabinet's decision that all of the negative
preservation work of the Ministry of Local Government and Planning, including listing,
should be transferred to the Ministry of Works so that there was one central authonty for
the preservation of historic buildings. Anticipating listed building consent by |7 years, a
consent process analogous to planning permission was also proposed. It would be
administered by the ‘protecting authonties’, which in most cases would be local councils,
except where ‘outstanding’ buildings and monuments or those of primarily archaeological
interest were concerned; these would be dealt with at a national level by the Ministry of
Works. Grants or loans towards the cost of repairs could be made by any protecting
authonty. Guardianship of any protected building would be possible but, in a crucial
change from the 1913 Act, the agreement could be revoked by the Minister.

By the time of the 1951 general election the Monuments and Buildings (Protection) Bill
was almast ready to put before Parliament, but the victory of the Conservatives in the
General Election brought a new Minister, David Eccles, and he was not prepared to
proceed with the Bill in its existing form. Eccles was a cultured man, a collector of beoks,
paintings and sculpture and a member of the Georgian Group, who might have been
expected to be keen to act but he declared the Bill as it stood to be too Seaalist for my
liking'.'™ His decision to review the legislation meant further delay in what was generally
agreed to be a matter of great urgency. As a result the government came under pressure
from the likes of Lord Reosse of the Georgian Group and the Chairman of the National
Trust, Lord Crawford, tc act.

A debate in the House of Commcns on é February 1953, called by Conservative MP
Arthur Colegate, helped to maintain the pressure in Parliament. The Minister was urged
from all sides of the House to bring in the legislation quickly. Eric Fletcher, a Labour MP,
seconded the moticn and reminded the House that while the government delayed ‘the
tide of destruction mounted with increasing fury. He read cut a list of recent losses such
as High Sunderand Hall in Yorkshire - the criginal "Wuthering Heights- and East Cowes
Castle, John Nash's mansion on the Isle of Wight.""' David Eccles defended himself by
explaining that the delays were caused by a crowded Parliamentary timetable and the
difficulties of devising a scheme which could be practical and effective with a budget of

just £250,000, the sum allocated by the Treasury. '™

A simplified Bill was eventually intreduced which focused on the creation of Historic
Buildings Councils and new grant-making powers for the Minister of Works. The Bill was
widely supported in Parliament but the sums of money allocated for the exercise of the
new powers were heavily criticised for being inadequate. Eccles said at the second reading
of the Bill in the House of Commons that it was ‘presented in the belief that half a loaf is
better than no bread.” He asked MPs to see it as ‘a start in the right direction”® and
effectively a pilot scheme which could be extended later if it proved successful. The Bill
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was quickly passed by Pariament and received Rovyal Assent on 31 July 1953, Although
the Act fell 2 long way short of the ambitions of the Gowers Committee and the
intentions of the Ministry of Works, and the funds allocated for its implementation were
meagre, it nevertheless marked the start of a new age of heritage protecticn.
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APPENDICES

APPENDIX |: Monuments added to the National Heritage Collection 1945-53

Monument County Year ag&:ﬁ?(;
Hadrians Wall (HW): Gilsland Vicarage Cumbria | 945 Guardianship
Pevensey Castle East Sussex 945 Transfer
HW: Chesters Bridge Abutment Northumberland | 946 Guardianship
Old Oswestry Hill Fort Shropshire | 946 Guardianship
HW: Sewingshields Roman Wall Northumberland | 946 Giuardianship
HW: Birdaswald Fart Cumbria | 946 Guuardianship
HW: Harrow Scar Milecastle Cumbnia | 946 Guuardianship
HW: Willewford Bridge Abutment Cumbria | 946 Gauardianship
HwW: Milvain Fast & West Cumbria | 546 Guardianship
Christchurch Narman House Darset | 946 Gaift
Ospringe, Maison Diey Kent | 947 Guuardianship
HW: Brunton Turret Northumberland | 947 Guuardianship
Duxford Chapel Cambnidgeshire | 947 Guardianship
Totnes Castle DBevon | 947 Guardianship
Wroxeter Roman City Shropshire | 947 Guardianship
Longthorpe Tower Cambnidgeshire | 947 Gaift
Apsley House London | 947 Gaift
Steeton Hall Gateway North Yorkshire 1548 Guardianship
Kirkham House, Paignton DBevon | 948 Gaift
Hadleigh Castle Essex | 948 Guardianship
Thetford Warren Lodge Norfall 1948 Transfer
Shap Abbey Cumbria 1948 Guuardianship
Hailes Abbey Gloucestershire 1948 Guardianship
Abbotsbury Abbey Dorset | 948 Guardianship
Eynsford Castle Kent 1948 Guuardianship
Old Soar Manor, Plaxtal Kent 1948 Guuardianship
North Elrmham Chapel Norfall 1948 Guuardianship
Burton Agnes Manor Fast Yorkshire 1948 Guuardianship
Tilbury Fort Essex | 948 Transfer
Binham Wayside Cross Norfali | 949 Guardianship
Audley End House Essex | 949 Purchase
Chichele College Northarmptenshire | 949 Guardianship
Portland Castle Darset | 949 Transfer
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Wall Roman Site Staffordshire | 949 Guuardianship
Bclingbroke Castle Lincclnshire | 949 Guardianship
Hardknott Roman Fort Cumbnia | 549 Transfer
Old Merchants House MNorfolk | 549 Guardianship
Bow Bridge Barrow-in-Furmess Cumbria 1950 Gauardianship
Berney Arms Windmill Norfali 1950 Gaift

Bants Carm Burial Chamber Isles of Scilly 1950 Guardianship
Cromwells Castle Isles of Scilly 1950 Guardianship
Harry's Walls Isles of Scilly 1950 Guardianship
Innisidgen Burial Chambers Isles of Scilly 1950 Guuardianship
King Charles' Castle Isles of Scilly 1950 Gauardianship
Old Blockhouse Isles of Scilly 1950 Guardianship
Port Hellick Down Isles of Scilly 1950 Guardianship
Norwich Cow Tower Norfall 1950 Guardianship
Gireyfriars Cloisters Norfall 1950 Guuardianship
Lilleshall Abbey Shropshire 1950 Guardianship
HW: Banks Hill Cumbria 1950 Guuardianship
Hylton Castle Tyne & Wear 1950 Guardianship
Conishrough Castle South Yorkshire 1950 Guuardianship
Temple Mancr, Strood Kent 1950 Guuardianship
Kingswood Abbey Gatehouse Gloucestershire 1950 Gaift

Creake Abbey Norfali 1950 Guardianship
Homes Place Chapel, Appledore Kent 1950 Guardianship
Row ||| Hse MNorfolk | G50 Purchase
Reculver Towers and Roman Fort Kent 1950 Guardianship
Rushton Triangular Lodge Northamptenshire 1951 Gauardianship
Dunster Yarn Market Somerset 951 Guardianship
Dunster Gallox Bridge Scmerset 1951 Guardianship
Dunster Butter Cross Scmerset 1951 Guardianship
Cleave Abbey Sormerset 1951 Guuardianship
Deddington Castle Cxfordshire 1951 Gaift
LLaunceston Castle Cermwall 1951 Guuardianship
[tchen Abbas Roman Villa Hampshire [S5] Crown Transfer
Saxtead Green Postmill Suffalik 1951 Guuardianship
HW: Housesteads Fort Northumberland 1951 Guuardianship
Sawley Abbey Lancashire 1951 Guuardianship
Ludgershall Village Cross Wiltshire 1952 Guuardianship
Abingdon County Hall Oxfordshire 1952 Guardianship
Bishop Auckland Deer House CeDurham 1952 Guardianship
Appuldurcombe House Isle of Wight 1952 Guardianship
Appuldurcombe Freemantle Gateway Isle of Wight 1952 Guardianship
Bishops Waltham Falace Harnpshire 1952 Guuardianship
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5t Cathenine's Oratory Isle of Wight 1952 Gauardianship
Barmard Castle Co.Durham 1952 Guardianship
Donnington Castle Berkshire 1952 Gaift

Rycote Chapel Oxfordshire 1552 Guardianship
HW: Lea Hill Turret Cumbria 1952 Guuardianship
HW: Piper Sike Turret Cumbria 1952 Guardianship
Lyddington Bede Hse Rutland 1952 Guardianship
North Leigh Roman Villa Oxfordshire 1952 Guardianship
Denny Abbey Cambnidgeshire 1952 Guardianship
Aldborough Roman Tawn North Yorkshire 1952 Gauardianship
HW: Denton West Tyne & Wear 1952 Transfer
Mortimers Cress Water Mill Herefordshire 1953 Guardianship
HW: Carrawburgh Temple of Mithras Northumberland 1953 Guardianship
Stanwick Canmp North Yorkshire 1953 Guuardianship
Sir Bevil Granville's Mcnument Avon 1953 Guardianship
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APPENDIX 2: ‘Ancient Monuments which are desirable for Guardianship in
England and Wales’

The list was first compiled ¢1949 but appears to have been revised over time. A covering
note written by Sir Eric de Normann in 1951 (on the guardianship file for Beeston Castle)
explained the contents: The attached list refers to menuments not yet in our charge, the
acquisition of which would complete the gaps in cur holdings of the outstanding
moenuments in each categery. Seme of the monuments on the list we

are unlikely to get as they are quite well maintained by their owners who make sufficient
profit cut of takings to pay for maintenance. Of course

if the families die cut, we may eventually be asked to take over!

Where monuments later entered the national collection the date is given (for those in

England only).

Norman Keeps

Name of monument County Date entered the
national collection
Corfe Dorset
Sherborme Dorset 1956
Headingham Essex
Castle Rising Norfollk 1958
Prudhce Northumberland 966
Mitford MNorthumberland
Clun Shropshire 1991
Other medieval castles
Beestcn Cheshire 1959
Trematon Cornwall
Bayards Cove Cevon 1954
Berry Pomercy Cevon 1977
Rufus Castle Dorset
Longtown Herefordshire 1973
Wigmore Herefordshire 1995
Tattershall Lincolnshire
Caister Norfalk
Barnwell MNaorthamptonshire
Aydon MNaorthumberland 1966
Belsay MNaorthumberland 1980
Harbottle Nerthumberland
Thirtwall Northumberland
Newark Nottinghamshire
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Hecpton Shropshire

Ludlow Shropshire

Stokesay Shrapshire 1986
Tamworth Stafferdshire

Bungay Suffalk

Mettingham Suffalk

Orford Suffelk 1962
Amberley Sussex

Bodiam Sussex

Camber Sussex 1967
Warwick Warwickshire

Dudley Warcestershire

Bolten Yorkshire

Tickhill Yorkshire

Dryshwyn Carmarthenshire Date unknown
Dynevor Carmarthenshire Date unknown
Hawarden Flintshire

Castell Morgraig Glamorgan

Chepstow Maonmauthshire Date unknown
Carew Pembrokeshire
Manorbier Pembrokeshire

Pre-Noerman Churches

5t Peter, Bradwell-on-Sea Fssex

South Elmham ‘Old Minster’ Suffolk
Medieval Mcnasteries

Fountains Yorkshire Cistercian 1966
Kirkstall Yorkshire Cistercian

Beaulieu Hampshire Cistercian

Ford Hampshire Cistercian

Jervaulx Yorkshire Clistercian

Reading Berishire Benedictine

St Mary's York Yorkshire Benedictine

Lewes Sussex Cluniac

Wenlock Shropshire Cluniac 1964
Mount Grace Yorkshire Carthusian 1955
Beauvale Leicestershire Carthusian

Hirton Somerset Carthusian

Clare Suffolk Austin Friars

Hulne Northumberland Carmelite Friars

5t Radegunds Kent Premonstratensian
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APPENDIX 3: ‘Historic Gardens and Parks’

A list compiled by G H Chettle, Inspecter of Ancient Menuments in 1952, A copy is
National Archives file WORK [4/219%. The original spelling and use of cld county names

have been followed throughout.

County Garden or Park Town or Parish
Bedfordshire Southill Park Southill near Biggleswade
Woburn Abbey Wabum
Berkshire Coleshill House Celeshill near Faringden
Wrest Park Silsce near Bedford
Budkinghamshire Fawley Court Fawley near Henley-on-Thames

Hartwell House

Hartwell near Aylesbury

Stowe School

Stowe near Buckingham

West Wycombe Park

West Wycombe

Cambridgeshire Wimpole Hall Wimpcle near Raysten
Cheshire Eaton Hall Eaton near Chester
Cornwall Antony House Antony near Saftash
Derbyshire Chatsworth Chatswarth near Bakewell
Foremark Foremarlk near Derby
Haddon Hall Haddon Nether near Bakewell
Hardwicl Hall Hardwick near Chesterfield
Kedleston Hall Kedleston near Derby
Melbourne Hall Melbourne near Derby
Renishaw Hall Renishaw near Chesterfield
Devonshire Saftram House Plymouth
Ugbrocke Park Chudleigh
Dorsetshire Cranborme Manar Cranborne
Milton Abbey Milton Abbas near Blandford
Sherborne Castle Sherbome
Gloucestershire Badminton Badminton near Chipping Sadbury

Dodington Parlk

Dodington near Chipping Scdbury

Owlpen House

Owlpen near Dursley

Harnpshire

Broadlands

Broadlands near Newport, Isle of Wight

Stratfieldsaye House

Stratfieldsaye near Basingstoke

Hertfordshire Bayfordbury Bayford near Wincanton
Hatfield House Hatfield
Moor Park Rickmansworth
Woodhall Park Hertford
Huntingdonshire Kimbotten Castle Kimbolten near Huntingdan
Kenit Kncle Park Sevenoaks

Mereworth Castle

Mereworth near Maidstone

Mersham-le-Hatch

Mersham near Ashford

Penshurst Place

Penshurst

© ENGLISH HERITAGE

89

36-2014



Lancashire Stoneyhurst Stoneyhurst near Clitheroe
Leicestershire Belveir Castle Belvoir near Grantham
Quenby Hall Hungarton near Leicester

Staurton Hareld Hall

Staunton Harold near Ashby-de-la-
Zouch

Linccinshire Belton House Belton near Grantham
Middlesex Chiswick House Chiswick
Syon House slesworth
Narfelk Felbrigge Hall Felbrigg near Cromer
Holkham Hall Holkham near Wells

Houghten Hall

Houghten near Fakenham

Melton Constable Hall

Melton Constable

Raynham Hall Falenham
MNaorthamptonshire Althorp Park Altherp near Nerthampton
Apetharpe Hall Apetharpe near Wansford
Burghley House Stamford, Lincolnshire
Canons Ashby Canons Ashby near Daventry
Easton Neston Easten Neston, Towcester
MNorthurmberiand Alnwick Castle Alnwicl
Belsay Castle Belsay near Mcrpeth
Wallington Wallington Demesne near Morpeth
Oxfordshire Blenheim Park Blenheim near Wocdstocdk

Ditchley Park

Ditchley near Woodstock

Nuneham Courtney

Nuneham Courtney near Oxford

Rousham

Raousham near Woodstock

Thame Park

Thame

Wotton House

Woaotton Underwood, Berkshire

Somersetshire

Brympton d'Evercy

Brympton near Yeovil

Staffordshire

Chillingten Park and Hall

Chillington near llminster

Suffelk Heveningham Hall Heveningham near Saxmundham
Ickwerth House |ckewarth near Bury St Edmunds
Surrey Claremont Park Claremont near Esher
Clandon Paric West Clandon near Guildford
Sussex Ashbumham House Ashburnham near Battle

Goodwood Goodwood near Chichester
Petworth House Petworth
Up Park Up Park near Petersfield

Warwickshire

Charlecote Park

Charlecote near Stratford-on-Avon

Compton Verney

Kineton

Stoneleigh Abbey Stoneleigh near Kenilwerth
Warwick Castle Warwick
Westmorland Levens Hall Levens near Kendal
Wiltshire Bowood Park Calne

Corsham Court

Corsham near Chippenham

Littlecote Park

Littlecote near Hungerford

Longford Castle

Salisbury
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Longleat Warminster

Stourhead House Mere

Trafalgar House Salisbury

Wardour Castle Tisbury

Wilton House Wilten near Salisbury
Woarcestershire Creome Court Croome d'Abitot near Pershore

Hagley Hall Hagley
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APPENDIX 4: ‘Important Country Houses in England and Wales’

The follewing list was compiled by G H Chettle, Inspector of Ancient Monuments, in early
1948. A covering memo is dated 22 February 1948. It does not include those already

protected by the National Trust, local authority or the govermment. A copy of the list and
covering note are on National Archives file HLG 126/1 6.

County

Name of house

Durham

Raby Castle

North Yorkshire

Castle Howard

East Yorkshire

Burton Agnes Hall

West Yorkshire Harewocd House

West Yorkshire Wentworth Castle

West Yorkshire Wentworth Woodhouse
Derbyshire Chatswerth

Derbyshire Hardwick Hall
Derbyshire Kedleston

Derbyshire Hadden Hall
Lincelnshire Belton House
Lincelnshire Beothby Pagnell Manor House
MNaorthamptonshire Altherp
Northamptonshire Apethorpe
Northamptonshire Castle Ashby
Northamptonshire Deene Hall

Northamptonshire

Easton Neston

Northamptenshire

Drayton House

Northamptonshire

Burghley House

Northamptonshire

Bcughton House

Nattinghamshire Welbedk Abbey
Bedfordshire Wobum Abbey
Essex Langleys
Hertfordshire Hatfield House
Hurtingdonshire Kimbolton Castle
Narfelk Holkham Hall
Narfelk Houghten Hall
Narfelk Raynham Hall
Suffelk Hengrave Hall
Dorset Sherbome Castle
Dorset Forde Abbey
Harpshire The Vyne
Oxfordshire Broughton Castle
Crdferdshire Blenheim Falace

Gloucestershire

(Great Badminton
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Gloucestershire

Dyrham House

Gloucestershire

Berkeley Castle

Sormerset Brympton d'Evercy
Wiltshire Bowood

Wiltshire Longleat

Wiltshire Longford Castle
Wiltshire Wilten House
Denbighshire Erddig Hall
Maonmauthshire Powis Castle

Shrapshire

Stokesay Castle

Warwickshire

Compton Vernay

Warwickshire Compton Wynyates
Westmoreland Sizergh Castle

Kent | eads Castle

Kent Penshurst

Surrey Loseley House
Surrey Sutton Place
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APPENDIX 5: ‘“Typical houses worthy of preservation’

The list was attached to a memorandum on the ‘Preservaticn of Houses of Architectural
and Histonic Interest’ sent to the Treasury on 28 May 1948. It is arranged in chrenological
order and the dates are those given in the orginal document. A copy of the list and
covering note are on National Archives file HLG 126/1 6.

Century | Date Name of house County
CI2 c 1150 Hemingford Grey Manor House | Huntingdenshire
c 1150 Sutton Courtenay ‘Norman Hall' | Berkshire
Cl13 c 1210 Appleton Mancr Berishire
c 1280 Aydon Castle Northumberland
C13 and later Stokesay Castle Shropshire
C13 and later Haddon Hall Derbyshire
Cl14 C14 and later Raby Castle Durham
¢ 1350 and later Panshurst Place Kent
ClZztc Cl4 Berieley Castle Gloucestershire
Powis Castle Monmauthshire
ClI5 Cl41c CI8 Drayton House Northamptonshire
c 1480 Gireat Chalfield Manor Wittshire
Clé Horham Hall Essex
c 1520 Compton Wynyates Warwickshire
|523-5 Sutton Place Surrey
|525-3C Hengrave Hall Suffolk
Burghley House Northamptonshire
Longford Castle Wiltshire
c 1594 Hardwiclk Hall Derbyshire
ClI7 c 1610 Hatfield House Hertfordshire
c 1630 Raynham Hall Norfollk
| 633-49 Wilton House Wittshire
1650 Ashdown House Berishire
| 650-62 Coleshill Berishire
| 654 Thorpe Hall Northamptonshire
| 683 and later Erddig [Denbighshire
|68/ and later Chatsworth Derbyshire
| 689 Befton House Lincalnshire
1698 Dyrham Gloucestershire
C18 1’700 Langleys Essex
|'70C Castle Howard North Yeorkshire
|'705 Blenheim Palace Oxfordshire
|'722 Houghten House Norfollk
|'725 and 1738 Wentworth Waoodhaouse Soutnh Yorlshire
734 Holkham Hall Norfalk
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|'747 and late CI18 | Woburn Abbey Bedfordshire

| 744 44 Berkeley Square London

| 755 Spencer House Londen

| 760 Kedleston Derbyshire
1’790 Heveningham Hall Suffolk

c 1800 Dodington Parlk Gloucestershire

Streets such as

Chipping Campden

Bridge Street [sic], Ludlow
Bewdley, Worcesterhire
Blandford, Dorset

Squares, Crescents, Terraces

Bath, eg The Circus, The Royal Crescent, Lansdown Crescent
and many cthers

Cheltenham; laid cut chiefly by | B Papworth

Londen, eg Bedford Square, Regents Park, Carfton House Terrace
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ENGLISH HERITAGE RESEARCH AND THE HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT

English Heritage undertakes and commissions research into the historic
environment, and the issues that affect its condition and survival, in order to
provide the understanding necessary for informed policy and decision making, for
the protection and sustainable management of the resource, and to promote the
widest access, appreciation and enjoyment of our heritage. Much of this work is
conceived and implemented in the context of the National Heritage Protection
Plan. For more information on the NHPP please go to httpi/fiwww.english-heritage.
org.uk/professional/protection/national-heritage-protection-plan/.

The Heritage Protection Department provides English Heritage with this capacity
in the fields of building history, archacclogy, archaeclogical science, imaging

and visualisation, landscape history, and remcte sensing. It brings together four
teams with complementary investigative, analytical and technical skills to provide
integrated applied research expertise across the range of the historic environment.
These are:

* Intervention and Analysis (including Archaeology Projects, Archives,
Envirenmental Studies, Archaeclogical Conservation and Technology,
and Scientific Dating)

* Assessment (including Archaeoclogical and Architectural Investigation,
the Blue Plaques Team and the Survey of London)

* Imaging and Visualisation (including Technical Survey, Graphics
and Photography)
* Remote Sensing (including Mapping, Photogrammetry and Geophysics)

The Heritage Protection Department undertakes a wide range of investigative
and analytical projects, and provides quality assurance and management support
for externally-commissioned research. We aim for innovative work of the highest
quality which will set agendas and standards for the historic environment sector:
In support of this, and to build capacity and promote best practice in the sector,
we also publish guidance and provide advice and training. We support community
engagement and build this in to our projects and programmes wherever possible.

We make the results of our work available through the Research Report Senes,
and through jeurnal publications and monographs. Our newsletter Research News,
which appears twice a year; aims to keep our partners within and outside English
Heritage up-to-date with cur projects and activities.

A full list of Research Reports, with abstracts and information on how to obtain
copies, may be found on www.english-heritage org.uk/researchreports

For further information visit www.english-heritage.org.uk
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